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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of
Noor Financial Investment Company — KPSC
Kuwait

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Noor Financial Investment Company — Kuwaiti
Public Shareholding Company (the “Parent Company”) and Subsidiaties, (collectively the “Group”), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current year. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described below as the key audit
matters.

Valuation of investments held at fair value

The Group invests in various assets classes, of which 19% of the total assets represent investments which are
carried at fair value and classified either as investments at fair value through profit or loss or as investments at
fair value through other comprehensive income. The investments are fair valued on a basis considered most
appropriate by the management, depending on the nature of the investment, and the valuation is performed by
the Group using a fair value hierarchy as detailed in note 29.3. 69% of these investments ate carried at fair value
based on Level 1 valuations, and the balance 31% of these investments ate carried at fair value either based on
Level 2 or Level 3 valuations. Fair value measurement can be a subjective area and mote so for the investments
classified under level 2 and level 3 since these are valued using inputs other than quoted prices in an active
market. Given the inherent subjectivity in valuation of investments classified under level 2 and level 3 we
determined this to be a key audit matter. Refer to Note 5.15.3, 5.15.8, 14, 16 and 29.2 for more information on
fair valuation of investments at fair value through other comprehensive income and investments at fair value
through statement of profit or loss.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Noor Financial Investment Company — KPSC (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Valuation of investments held at fair value (continued)

Our audit procedures included, among others, documenting and assessing the processes in place to fair value
the investment portfolio. Agreeing the cartying value of the investments to the Group’s internal or external
valuations prepared using valuation techniques, assessing and challenging the appropriateness of estimates,
assumptions and valuation methodology and obtaining supporting documentation and explanations to
corroborate the valuations.

Investment Property valuations

The Group’s investment properties represent 12% of the total assets and comprise of land and rental buildings
located in Kuwait, other Middle East countries and United Kingdom. The Groups policy 1s that property
valuations ate performed at year end by external valuators, as detailed in note 29.4. These valuations are based
on number of assumptions, including estimated rental revenues, capitalization yields, historical transactions,
market knowledge, occupancy rates and cost of construction. Given the fact that the fair value of the investment
propetties represents a significant judgment area and the valuations are highly dependent on estimates we
determined this to be a key audit matter. Refer to Note 18 and 29.4 for more information on the valuation of
the Investment Properties.

Out audit procedures included, among others, assessing the appropriateness of management’s process for
reviewing and assessing the work of the external valuers and their valuations including management’s
consideration of competence and independence of the external valuers. We reviewed the valuation reports from
the external valuers and agreed them to the cartying value of the properties. We assessed the appropriateness
of the valuation methodologies used in assessing the fair value of the investment properties including
discussions with the management on the estimates, assumptions and valuation methodology used in assessing
the fair value of investment properties.

Other information included in the Group’s 2020 annual report

Management is responsible for the other information. Other information consists of the information included
in the Annual Report of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. We obtained the report of the Parent Company’s Board of
Directors, ptior to the date of our auditor’s report and we expect to obtain the remaining sections of the
Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 December 2020 after the date of our auditors’ report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is matertally inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we have
obtained prior to the date of this auditors’ report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in accordance with IFRSs, as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Noot Financial Investment Company — KPSC (continued)

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basts of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
ot has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process,

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or etror, and to issue an auditors’ report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a matetial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exetcise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

* Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

* Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the undetlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

* Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and petformance of the Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Noor Financial Investment Company — KPSC (continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were
of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the curtent year and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law ot regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Furthermore, in our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Parent Company and the
consolidated financial statements, together with the contents of the report of the Parent Company’s board of
directors relating to these consolidated financial statements, are in accordance therewith. We further report that
we obtained all the mnformation and explanations that we required for the putpose of our audit and that the
consolidated financial statements incorporate all information that is required by the Companies Law No. 1 of
2016 and its Executive Regulations, as amended, and by the Parent Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation
and Articles of Association, as amended, that an inventory was duly carried out and that, to the best of our
knowledge and belief, no violations of the Companies Law, the Executive Regulations, or of the Parent
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation and Articles of Association, as amended, have occurred during the
year ended 31 December 2020 that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the
Parent Company.

We further report that, during the course of our audit, we have not become awate of any violations of the
provisions of Law No. 32 of 1968, as amended, concerning currency, the Central Bank of Kuwait and the
organisation of banking business, and its related regulations, or of the provisions of Law No. 7 of 2010,
concerning the Capital Markets Authority and its related regulations during the year ended 31 December 2020
that might have had a material effect on the business or financial position of the Parent Company.

Abdullatit M. Al-Aiban (CPA)
(Licence No. 94-A)
of Grant Thornton — Al-Qatami, Al-Aiban & Partners

Kuwait
17 February 2021



i

Hoor Finonoial vestment Company ~ KPSQ and Subsitiaries
onsoildated Financia! $latemonts

31 Docomber 2020

[REEE

Consolidated statement of profit or loss

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2020 2019
KD KD
Continuing operations
Revenue from hotel operations and IT Services 13,306,655 13,389,851
Realised (loss)/gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss (145,607) 1,870,232
Unrealised gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss 73,279 1,713,417
Dividend income 803,261 1,145,524
Change in fair value of investment properties 18 (872,677) (1,150,308)
Rental Income 473,015 656,897
Share of results of associates 17 14,845,557 10,769,182
Realised gain on partial disposal/disposal of associates 17 - 1,576,423
Management fees 13,263 19,810
Total Income 28,496,746 29,991,030
Cost of sales and services from hotel operations and IT services 8 (11,129,237) (10,557,784)
General, administrative and other expenses 8 (4,269,886) (5,783,342)
Operating profit 13,097,623 13,649,904
Interest and other income 9 986,336 1,151,323
Foreign exchange loss (23,549) (891,600)
Finance costs (1,096,766) (1,810,452)
Impairment in value of intangible assets - (945,000)
Impairment in value of property and equipment - (530,144)
Impairment in value of accounts receivable (544,178) -
Profit from continuing operations 12,419,466 10,624,031
Discontinued operations
L.oss from discontinued operations - (1,456,681)
Profit before Zakat and directors’ remuneration 12,419,466 9,167,350
Provision for Zakat (122,448) (127,348)
Directors’ remuneration 26 (165,000) (120,000)
Profit for the year 12,132,018 8,920,002
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company 11,857,421 8,077,234
Non-controlling interests 274,597 842,768
12,132,018 8,920,002
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to the
owners of the Parent Company (Fils)
- From continuing operations 11 30.02 23.89
- From discontinued operations - (3.65)
30.02 20.24

The notes set out on pages 12 to 69 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income

Pl

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Profit for the year 12,132,018 8,920,002
Other comprehensive income:
Items to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods:
- Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign operations (1,214,497) (3,727,669)
- Transfer to consolidated statement of profit or loss on partial disposal of associate - 1,546,777
Share of other comprehensive income of associates:
- Changes in fair value (3,190,730) 6,290,837
Other comprehensive (loss)/income to be reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods (4,405,227) 4,109,945
Items not to be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods
~ Remeasurement of defined benefit plan of a foreign associate - (59,730)
- Net changes in fair value arising during the year for equity investments
classified as FVOCI (2,939,111) (122,120)
Other comprehensive loss not being reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods (2,939,111) (181,850)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (7,344,338) 3,928,095
Total comprehensive income for the year 4,787,680 12,848,097
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent Company 4,633,784 12,245,600
Non-controlling interests 153,896 602,497
4,787,680 12,848,097

The notes set out on pages 12 to 69 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Noor Financial Investment Company - KPSC and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements
31 December 2020
Kuwait

Consolidated statement of financial position

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2020 2019
KD KD
Assets
Cash and bank balances 12 4,133,589 2,580,478
Short term deposits 12 6,997,843 5,628,943
Woakala investments 13 - 1,000,000
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 14 7,599,868 11,704,245
Accounts receivable and other assets 15 4,489,542 4,445 898
Inventories 589,801 527,240
Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income 16 13,240,681 16,168,068
Investment in associates 17 52,118,051 46,722,338
Investment properties 18 13,056,083 13,895,210
Property and equipment 1,677,607 1,960,898
Right of use assets 1,257,317 1,432,738
Goodwill and other intangible asset 19 2,029,278 2,164,019
Total assets 107,189,660 108,230,075
Liabilities and Equity
Liabilities
Due to banks 12 333,516 408,598
Accounts payable and other liabilities 20 9,272,195 8,157,560
Borrowings 21 22,699,375 27,352,021
Provision for end of service indemnity 1,269,027 1,058,101
Total liabilities 33,574,113 36,976,280
Equity
Share capital 22 41,316,276 41,316,276
Share premium 22 3,410,573 3,410,573
Treasury shares 23 (4,138,316) (4,138,316)
Legal reserve 24 6,681,356 5,466,869
Voluntary reserve 24 6,681,356 5,466,869
Cumulative changes in fair value 25 (4,592,987) 1,416,153
Foreign currency translation reserve 25 (24,304,564) (23,090,087)
Retained earnings 41,828,327 34,769,670
Equity attributable to the owners of the Parent Company 66,882,021 64,618,027
Non-controlling interests 25 6,733,526 6,635,768
Total equity 73,615,547 71,253,795
Total liabilities and equity 107,189,660 108,230,075

/ \
/ i\
Abdulghani M.S. Behbshani
Vice Chairm

__Ealad Sulaiman Al-Khaled
/ Chairman

The notes set out on pages 12 to 69 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2020 2019

KD KD
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before Zakat and directors’ remunerations 12,419,466 9,167,350
Adjustments:
Dividend income (803,261) (1,145,524)
Realized gain on disposal / partial disposal of associates - (1,576,423)
Change in fair value of investment properties 872,677 1,150,306
Share of results of associates 17 (14,845,557) (10,769,182)
Net loss recognised on disposal of a subsidiaries - 1,456,681
Interest income and income from Wakala investments (74,403) (68,986)
Reversal of interest expenses on legal case settlement - (813,089)
Reversal of impairment provision on wakala investments (800,000) (200,000)
Depreciation and amortisation 607,883 794,653
Provision for end of service indemnity 279,427 202,650
Finance costs 1,096,766 1,810,452
Impairment in value of accounts receivable 544,178 -
Impairment in value of property and equipment - 530,144
Impairments in value of intangible assets - 945,000

(702,824) 1,484,032
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 4,104,377 7,683
Accounts receivable and other assets (587,823) 722,786
Accounts payable and other liabilities 883,839 (2,127,153)
Inventories (62,561) (17,275)
Cash from operation 3,635,008 70,073
Zakat paid (80,056) (93,468)
Payment of end of service indemnity (68,501) (37,511)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities 3,486,451 (60,906)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Change in short term deposits maturing after 3 Months - (1,250,000)
Change in wakala investments 13 1,000,000 -
Proceeds from redemptions/sale of investments at FVOCI - 72,587
Purchase of investments at FVOCI - (427,040)
Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries - 550,046
Dividend received from associates 4,980,065 3,883,480
Dividend received 803,261 1,145,524
Proceeds from disposals/ partial disposal of associates - 7,455,044
Net disposal of property and equipment - 54,370
Proceed from settlement of wakala investment 13 800,000 200,000
Interest income and income from Wakala investments received 74,403 68,986
Net cash from investing activities 7,657,729 11,752,997

The notes set out on pages 12 to 69 form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)

11

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
Note 2020 2019
KD KD

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Repayments of borrowings (net) 21 (4,652,646) (10,036,981)
Redemption of units by non-controlling interests of a subsidiary (10,502) (16,431)
Payment to non-controlling interests on reduction of share capital by

subsidiaries (14,943) (131,058)
Purchase of treasury shares - (603,200)
Dividend paid by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests (33,992) (99,566)
Dividend paid (2,336,798) (1,854,569)
Finance costs paid (1,098,206) (1,823,448)
Net cash used in financing activities (8,147,087) (14,565,253)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,997,093 (2,873,162)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 6,544,833 9,417,995
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12 9,541,926 6,544,833

Adjustment for non-cash transactions:

- Investment property retained from disposal of subsidiary 7 - 2,890,538
- Settlement of loan from Ultimate Parent Company 17.2 - 3,000,000
- Disposal of investments in associates 17.2 - (3,835,000)
- Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 7 - (2,890,538)
- Transfer of investment at FVOCI 17.2 - 168,000
- Transfer of investment property 17.2 - 667,000

The notes set out on pages 12 10 69 form an integral part of these consolidared financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1

Incorporation and activities

Noor Financial Investment Company — KPSC (“the Parent Company”) was incorporated in Kuwait on 1
February 1997 and its shares were listed on the IQuwait Stock Exchange during May 2006. The Parent Company
and its subsidiaries are together referred to as “the Group”. The Parent Company is regulated by the Central Bank
of Kuwait and also by the Capital Matket Authority (CMA), as an investment company and is a subsidiary of
National Industries Group Holding KPSC (“the Ultimate Parent Company”).

The principal objectives of the Parent Company are as follows:

Invest in various economic sectors through establishment of specialized companies or purchase of shares
or stakes in those companies;

Perform the functions of investment trustees and manage all kinds of investment portfolios for third
parties;

Facilitate in lending and borrowing transactions for commission or remuneration;

Fund and facilitate in international trade operations;

Conduct research, studies and other technical services related to investment operations and manage funds
for third parties;

Create and manage various investment funds according to the law.

Perform the functions of lead manager for the bonds issued by companies and bodies.

Prepare studies and provide financial advice related to investment for privatization projects;

Carry out all the services and activities that help developing the financial and monetary market in the
State of Kuwait;

Trade, by selling and buying, in shares, bonds, Sukuks and other securities listed in Boursa Kuwait and
foreign stock exchanges or unlisted for the Company’s account or the account of its clients for
commission or remuneration;

Invest in real estate, industrial and agticultural sectors of the economy in all types of instruments;
Facilitate in selling or buying financial assets and other assets for commission or remuneration;

Provide funding operations to third parties to buy or lease fixed assets and movables through contracts;
Provide technical setvices for the incorporation of companies and restructuring, merger or disposal of
the existing companies.

Prepare studies and research and provide the necessary consultation in all matters relating to the
objectives of the company.

Acquire industrial property rights, patents, trade and industrial marks, literary and intellectual property
rights;

Represent foreign companies, the objectives of which are identical with the objectives of the company
in order to market their products and services in accordance with the relevant Kuwaiti legislation;

To act as an investment controller.

The Parent Company has the right to perform the above-mentioned activities inside and outside the State of

Kuwait directly or through an agent. The Parent Company may have an interest or participate in any aspect with

the entities performing similar works or which might assist it in the achievement of its objectives in Kuwait or

abroad. The Parent Company may also purchase these entities or affiliate them therewith.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

1 Incorporation and activities (continued)
Further, the Parent Company may practice works similar or complementary or necessary ot related to its above-
mentioned objectives and may utilize its surplus funds by investing same in portfolios and funds managed by

specialized companies and bodies.

The address of the Parent Company’s registered office is NIG Building, Ground Floor, Shuwaikh, Kuwait (P. O
Box 3311, Safat 13034, State of Kuwait).

The Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved these consolidated financial statements for issuance on
17 February 2021. The general assembly of the Parent Company’s shareholders has the power to amend these
consolidated financial statements after issuance.

2 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention modified to include the
measutement at fair value of investments at fair value through profit or loss, investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income and investment properties.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwaiti Dinars (KD), which is the functional and
presentation currency of the Parent Company.

The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and
the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests.

3 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepated in accordance with the regulations for financial services
institutions as issued by the Central Bank of Kuwait (“CBK”) in the State of Kuwait. These regulations require
expected credit loss (“ECL”) to be measured at the higher of the ECL on credit facilities computed under IFRS
9 according to the CBK guidelines or the provisions as required by CBK instruction; the consequent impact on
related disclosures; and the adoption of all other requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) (collectively referred to as IFRS,
as adopted for use by the State of Kuwait). However as of 31 December 2020 the Parent company and it
subsidiaries do not have any credit facilities to third parties.

4 Changes in accounting policies

4.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group
A number of new and revised standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
which have been adopted by the Group. Information on these new standards is presented below:

Standard or Interbretation Effective for annnal periods beginning
TFRS 3 - Amendments 1 January 2020
IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Amendments 1 January 2020

IFRS 16 — Amendments — Covid 19 Rent Related Concessions 1 June 2020
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 3 - Amendments
The Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations are changes to Appendix A defined terms, the application
guidance, and the illustrative examples of IFRS 3 only with respect to definition of business. The amendments:

e clarify that to be considered a business, an acquired set of activities and assets must include, at 2 minimum,
an input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs;

e narrow the definitions of a business and of outputs by focusing on goods and services provided to customers
and by removing the reference to an ability to reduce costs;

e add guidance and illustrative examples to help entities assess whether a substantive process has been acquired;

® remove the assessment of whether market participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or
processes and continuing to produce outputs; and

¢ add an optional concentration test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities

and assets is not a business

The application of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

IAS 1 and IAS 8 — Ammendments

The amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 clarify the definition of ‘material’ and align the definition used in the
Conceptual Framework and the standards. The threshold for materiality influencing users has been changed from
‘could influence’ to ‘could reasonably be expected to influence’.

The application of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial

statements.

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2020, but do not have a material impact
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

The Group has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or amendment that has been issued but is not
yet effective.

IFRS 16 ~ Amendments- COVID19 Rent Related Concessions

IFRS 16 contains specific requirements when accounting for changes to lease payments and rent concessions are
in the scope of these requirements. Lessees are required to assess whether rent concessions are lease modifications,
and if they are, there is specific accounting to be applied. However, applying these requirements to potentially a
significant number of leases could be difficult, particularly from a practical perspective due to pressures resulting
from the pandemic.

The practical expedient allows lessees to elect to not carry out an assessment to decide whether a COVID-19-
related rent concession received is a lease modification. The lessee is permitted to account for the rent
concession as if the change is not a lease modification.



w v S R S 3o P = * o &
Mooy Finoncix! lnvestment Company ~ KPEE and Subsidiaries 18
Gonsoiidated Finanoial Statements
31 Becombor 2020

Haswalt

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.1 New and amended standards adopted by the Group (continued)

IFRS 16 — Amendments- COVID19 Rent Related Concessions (continued)
The practical expedient is only applicable to rent concessions provided as a direct result of the COVID-19
pandemic. The relief is only for lessees that are granted these rent concessions. There are no changes for lessors.

All of the following conditions need to be met:

* The rent concession provides relief to payments that overall results in the consideration for the lease contract
being substantially the same or less than the original consideration for the lease immediately before the concession
was provided.

* The rent concession is for relief for payments that were otiginally due on or before 30 June 2021. So payments
included are those required to be reduced on or before 30 June 2021, but subsequent rental increases of amounts
deferred can go beyond 30 June 2021.

* There are no other substantive changes to the other terms and conditions of the lease

The application of the amendments did not have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective

At the date of authorisation of this consolidated financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been published by the TASB but are not yet effective, and have not been
adopted carly by the Group.

Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting
policies for the first petiod beginning after the effective date of the pronouncements. Information on new
standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued but are not
expected to have a material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial information.

Standard or Interpretation Effective for annual periods beginning
IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor

and its Associate or Joint Venture - Amendments No stated date

TAS 16 — Amendments — Proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022

IAS 37 — Amendments — Onerous contracts -Cost of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle 1 January 2022

IAS 1 — Amendments — Classification of current or non-curtent 1 January 2023

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture - Amendments
The Amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures (2011) clarify the treatment of the sale or contribution of assets from an investor to its associate ot joint
venture, as follows:
e require full recognition in the investor's financial statements of gains and losses arising on the sale or
contribution of assets that constitute a business (as defined in IFRS 3 Business Combinations)
®  require the partial recognition of gains and losses where the assets do not constitute a business, i.e. a gain
or loss is recognised only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate ot joint
venture.
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4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between and an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture — Amendments (continued)

These requirements apply regardless of the legal form of the transaction, e.g. whether the sale or contribution of
assets occurs by an investor transferring shares in a subsidiary that holds the assets (resulting in loss of control of
the subsidiary), or by the direct sale of the assets themselves.

IASB has postponed the effective date indefinitely until other projects are completed. However, eatly
implementation is allowed. Management anticipates that the application of these amendments may have an impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in future should such transactions arise.

IAS 16 Amendments - Proceeds before intended use

The amendment prohibits an entity from deducting from the cost of propetty, plant and equipment amounts
received from selling items produced while the entity is preparing the asset for its intended use. Instead, an entity
will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendment in the future will have a significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

IAS 37 Amendments — Onerous contracts- Cost of fulfilling a contract
The amendments specify which costs an entity includes when assessing whether a contract will be loss-making.

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous, the cost of fulfilling the
contract includes both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling contracts.

The amendments are only to be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all of its obligations
at the beginning of the annual period in which it first applies the amendments.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendment in the future will have a significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle

Amendment to IAS 1 simplifies the application of IFRS 1 by a subsidiary that becomes a first-time adopter after
its parent in relation to the measurement of cumulative translation differences. Subsidiary that is a first-time
adopter later than its parent might have been required to keep two parallel sets of accounting records for
cumulative translation differences based on different dates of transition to IFRSs. However, the amendment
extends the exemption to cumulative translation differences to reduce costs for first-time adopters.

Amendment to IFRS 9 relates to the ‘10 per cent’ Test for Derecognition of Financial Liabilities — In determining
whether to derecognise a financial Lability that has been modified or exchanged, an entity assesses whether the
terms are substantially different. The amendment clarifies the fees that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original financial

liability.
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4 Changes in accounting policies (continued)
4.2 IASB Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

Annual Improvements 2018-2020 Cycle (continued)

Taxation in fair value measurements — Before this amendment, when an entity used a discounted cash flow
technique to determine the fair value applying IAS 41, IAS 41.22 required the entity to exclude taxation cash flows
from the calculation. The amendment to TAS 41 temoved from this requirement to exclude taxation cash flows
when measuring fair value. This amendment aligned the requirements in IAS 41 on fair value measurement with
those in other IFRS Standards.

Management does not anticipate that the adoption of the amendments in the future will have a significant impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

JAS 1 Amendments - Classification of current or non-current

The amendments to IAS 1 clarify the classification of a liability as either current or non-current is based on the
entity’s rights at the end of the reporting petiod. Stating management expectations around whether they will defer
settlement or not does not impact the classification of the liability. It has added guidance about lending conditions
and how these can impact classification and has included requitements for liabilities that can be settled using an
entity’s own instruments.

5 Summary of significant accounting policies
The significant accounting policies and measurement basis adopted in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are summarised below:

5.1 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise financial statements of the Parent Company and all of its
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. All subsidiaries have a
reporting date of 31 December. The details of the significant subsidiaries are set out in Note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

All transactions and balances between Group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between Group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales
are reversed on consolidation, the undetlying asset is also tested for impairment from a Group perspective.

Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiaty. Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are recognised from the date the Group gains control, or until the date the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary as applicable.

Non-controlling interests, presented as part of equity, represent the portion of a subsidiary’s profit or loss and net
assets that is not held by the Group. The Group attributes total comprehensive income or loss of subsidiaries
between the owners of the parent and the non-controlling interests based on their respective ownership interests.
Losses of subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interests even if that results in a deficit balance.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.1 Basis of consolidation (continued)
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction. If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it:

e Derecognizes the assets (including goodwill) and Habilities of the subsidiary;

e Derecognizes the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests;

e Derecognizes the cumulative translation differences, recorded in consolidated statement of changes in
equity;

*  Recognizes the fair value of the consideration received;

e Recognizes the fair value of any investment retained;

e Recognizes any surplus or deficit in consolidated statement of profit or loss;

e Reclassifies the parent’s share of components previously recognized in consolidated statement of profit
ot loss and other comprehensive income to consolidated statement of profit or loss or retained earnings,
as appropriate, as would be required if the Group has directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

5.2 Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transferred by the Group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group, which includes the
fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs are
expensed as incurred. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interests in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

The Group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless of
whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the acquisition. Assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

Goodwill is stated after separate recognition of identifiable intangible assets. It is calculated as the excess of the
sum of a) fair value of consideration transferred, b) the recognised amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquitee and c) acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity interest in the acquiree, over the acquisition-date
fair values of identifiable net assets. If the fair values of identifiable net assets exceed the sum calculated above,
the excess amount (i.e. gain on a bargain purchase) is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
immediately.

5.3 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that are not individually
identified and separately recognised. See note 5.2 for information on how goodwill is initially determined.
Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Refer to note 5.14 for a description of impairment
testing procedures.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.4 Investment in associates

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant influence but which are neither
subsidiaries nor joint ventures. Investments in associates are initially recognised at cost and subsequently
accounted for using the equity method. Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the Group’s share
in the associate is not recognised separately and is included in the amount recognised as investment in associates.

Under the equity method, the catrying amount of the investment in associates is increased or decreased to
recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate, adjusted where
necessaty to ensure consistency with the accounting policies of the Group.

Unrealised gains and losses on transactions between the Group and its associates and joint ventures are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s intetest in those entities. Where unrealised losses are eliminated, the underlying asset
is also tested for impairment.

The share of results of an associate is shown on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. This is
the profit attributable to equity holders of the associate and therefore is profit after tax and non-controlling
interests in the subsidiaries of the associate.

The financial statements of the associates are prepared either to the reporting date of the Parent Company or to
a date not earlier than three months of the Parent Company’s reporting date, using consistent accounting policies.
Adjustments are made for the effects of significant transactions or events that occur between that date and the
date of the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognise an additional
impairment loss on the Group’s investment in its associate. The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount under separate heading in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the Group measures and recognises any tetained investment
at its fair value. Any differences between the carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from disposal are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

However, when the Group reduces its ownership intetest in an associate or a joint venture but the Group
continues to use the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that
had previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership interest if
that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

5.5 Segment reporting

The Group has four operating segments: Investments, Real Estate, IT services and Hotel Operations. In
identifying these operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s service lines representing its
main products and services. Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each requires different
approaches and other resources.

For management purposes, the Group uses the same measurement policies as those used in its consolidated
financial statements. In addition, assets or liabilities which are not ditectly attributable to the business activities of
any operating segment are not allocated to a segment.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.6 Revenue
The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources:
° Rendering of services including fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain
petiod of time and fee income from providing transaction services
° Rental of investment properties
° Interest on deposits
° Dividend income
] Revenue from hotel operations
° Revenue from IT services

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a
customer and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Group recognises revenue when it
transfers control of a product ot setvice to a customer. The Group follows a 5-step process:

1 Identifying the contract with a customer

2 Identifying the performance obligations

3 Determining the transaction price

4 Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations

5 Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

The total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations based on their
relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf
of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the Group satisties performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

5.6.1 Rendering of services

The Group earns fees and commission income from a diverse range of asset management, investment banking,
custody and brokerage services provided to its customers. Fee income can be divided into the following two
categories:

o Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time
Fees earned for the provision of setvices over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include
commission income and asset management, custody and other management fees.

o Fee income from providing transaction services

Fees arising for rendering specific advisory services, brokerage services, equity and debt placement transactions
for a third party or arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party
are recognised on completion of the undetlying transaction.

5.6.2 Rental income
The Group earns rental income from operating leases of its investment properties (refer note 5.9).

5.6.3 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using effective interest method.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.6 Revenue (continued)

5.6.4 Gain/(loss) from sale of investment properties
Gain/(loss) from sale of investment propertes is recognised at the point in time when control of the assets is
transferred to the purchaser.

5.6.5 Dividend income
Dividend income, other than those from investments in associates, is recognised at the time the right to receive
payment is established.

5.6.6 Revenue from hotel operations
Revenue from hotel opetations includes hotel services revenue, food and beverage and room revenue.

Room revenue is recognised on the rooms occupied on a daily basis and food and beverage and other related
sales are accounted for at the time of sale and other related services are recognised on the performance of the
service.

5.6.7 Revenue from IT services

Revenue from IT services represent IT related services and sale of IT related products. Revenue from these
services is recognised as service is rendered. Customers are invoiced periodically in accordance with individual
contracts as service provided. Any amounts remaining unbilled at the end of a reporting period are presented in
the statement of financial position as accounts teceivable as only the passage of time is required before payment
of these amounts will be due.

5.7 Operating expenses
Operating expenses are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at
the date of their origin.

5.8 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset are
capitalised during the period of time that is necessary to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the petiod in which they are incurred and reported in finance costs.

5.9 Leases assets

The Group as a lessee

For any new contracts entered into on or after 1 January 2020, the Group considers whether a contract is, or
contains a lease. A lease is defined as ‘a contract, ot part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration’.

To apply this definition the Group assesses whether the contract meets three key evaluations which are whether:
* the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the contract or implcitly

specified by being identified at the time the asset is made available to the Group

* the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights within the defined scope of the contract

* the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use. The Group
assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the

period of use.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.9 Leases assets (continued)

The Group as a lessee (vontinned)

The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets using the practical
expedients. Instead of recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the payments in relation to these are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position as follows:

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, any
initial direct costs incutred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove the asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives
received).

Subsequent to initial measurement, the Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line basis from the
lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the
lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist.

Lease liability

At the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the
Group’s incremental borrowing rate,

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including in
substance fixed), variable payments based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee and payments arising from options reasonably certain to be exercised.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability is reduced for payments made and increased for interest. It is
remeasured to reflect any reassessment ot modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to zero.

The Group as a lessor
The Group entets into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to some of its investment properties. The Group
classifies its leases as either operating or finance leases. When the terms of a lease transfer substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the contractis classified as finance lease. All other leases are classified
as operating leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head-lease and sub-lease as two separate contacts.
The sub-lease is classified as finance lease or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use of asset arising from
the head-lease.,
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.9 Leases assets (continued)

The Group as a lessor (continued)

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over lease term. Initial direct cost
incurred in arranging and negotiating a lease are added to the carrying amount of the lease assets and recognised
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Amounts due under finance leases are recognised as receivables. Finance lease income is allocated to the
accounting periods so as to teflect a constant petiodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding
for the finance lease.

510  Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. The Group
depreciates its equipment using the straight-line method at rates sufficient to write off the assets over thetr
estimated useful economic lives. The residual value, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate at each financial year end.

5.11  Intangible assets
Identifiable non-monetary assets acquired in a business combination and from which future benefits are expected
to flow are treated as intangible assets.

Intangible assets which have a finite life are amortized over their useful lives. Intangible assets of the Group
comprise of Indefeasible Rights of Use (IRU).

IRU are the rights to use a portion of the capacity of a terrestrial or submarine transmission cable granted for a
fixed period. IRUs are recognised at cost as an asset when the Group has the specific indefeasible right to use an
identified portion of the underlying asset, generally optical fibres or dedicated wave length bandwidth and the
duration of the right is for the major part of the underlying asset’s economic life. They are amortised on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the expected petiod of use and the life of the contract which ranges between 10 to
15 years.

512  Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, and are accounted for
using the fair value model.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequently, investment
propetties are re-measured at fair value on an individual basis based on valuations by independent real estate
valuators and are included in the consolidated statement of financial position. Changes in fair value are taken to
the consolidated statement of profit ot Joss.

Investment properties are de-recognised when either they have been disposed or when the investment property
is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or
losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss in the year of retirement or disposal.

Transfers are made to or from investment property only when there is a change in use. For a transfer from
investment propetty to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent accounting is the fair value at
the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under property and equipment up to the date of change in use.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.13  Investment in joint operations (jointly controlled investment properties and borrowings)
Investment in jointly controlled operations are accounted for under the method of proportionate consolidation
whereby the Group recognises its interest in assets, liabilities, income and expenses relating to the assets on a line-
by-line basis and classified according to their nature.

5.14  Impairment testing of goodwill and non- financial assets

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely
independent cash inflows (cash generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are
expected to benefit from synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the
Group at which management monitors goodwill.

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated (determined by the Group’s management as equivalent
to its operating segments) ate tested for impairment at least annually.

All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the catrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine
the value-in-use, management estimates expected future cash flows from the asset or each cash-generating unit
and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used
for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary
to exclude the effect of future reorganisations and assets enhancements. Discount factors are determined
individually for each asset or cash-generating unit and reflect management’s assessment of respective risk profiles,
such as market and asset-specific risk factors.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to that
cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to the other assets in the cash-generating
unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss
previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s
recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.

5.15 Financial instruments

5.15.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument and are measured initially at fair value adjusted by transactions costs, except
for those carried at fair value through profit or loss which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequent
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities are described below.

All ‘regular way’ purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date that the entity
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are putchases or sales of financial assets that
require delivery of assets within the time frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market
place.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.15  Financial instruments (continued)

5.15.1 Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition (continued)
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of financial asset or part of group of similar financial assets) is
derecognised when:

e rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired;

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass through’ arrangement; and
either

(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or
(b) the Group has neither transfetred nor retained substantially all risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- through
atrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms,
ot the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-
tecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

5.15.2 Classification of financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified into the following categories upon
initial recognition:

e financial assets at amortised cost
* financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
* financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVITPL)

The classification is determined by both:

¢ the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset
¢ the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

The Group may make the following irrevocable election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset:
* the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met (note 5.15.3); and
* the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVOCI criteria
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. No such
designation has been made.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.15  Financial instruments (continued)

5.15.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and are not designated
as FVIPL):

* they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect its contractual
cash flows

¢ the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less
provision for impairment. Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial.

The Group’s financial assets at amortised cost comprise of the following:

- Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, balances with banks and other financial institutions and short-
term deposits due within three months which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

o Cash and bank balances and short-term deposits
Cash on hand and demand deposits are classified under cash and bank balances and deposits placed with financial
institutions with a maturity of less than one year are classified as short-term deposits.

o Murabaha investments/ receivables
Murabaha is an Islamic transaction involving the purchase and immediate sale of an asset at cost plus an agreed
profit. The amount due is settled on a deferred payment basis.

When the credit risk of the transaction is attributable to a financial institution, the amount due under Murabaha
contracts is classified as a Mutrabaha investment. Whereas, when the credit risk of transaction is attributable to
counterparties other than banks and financial institutions, the amount due is classified as Murabaha receivable.

Murabaha receivables which arise from the Group’s financing of long-term transactions on an Islamic basis are
classified as Murabaha receivables originated by the Group and are carried at the principal amount less provision
for credit risks to meet any decline in value. Third party expenses such as legal fees, incurred in granting a
Murabaha are treated as part of the cost of the transaction.

All Murabaha receivables are recognized when the legal right to control the use of the underlying asset is
transferred to the customer.

o Wakala investments

Wakala is an agreement whereby the Group provides a sum of money to a financial institution under an agency
arrangement, who invests it according to specific conditions in return for a fee. The agent is obliged to return the
amount in case of default, negligence or violation of any terms and conditions of the Wakala.

o Receivables and other financial assets
Trade receivables are stated at original invoice amount less allowance for impairment.

Receivables which are not categorised under any of the above are classified as “other recervables /other assets™.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
515  Financial instruments (continued)

5.15.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVOCI
The Group’s financial assets at FVOCI comprise of investments in equity shares: These represent investments in
equity shares of various companies and include both quoted and unquoted.

Debt instruments at FVOCI
The Group accounts for debt instruments at FVOCIT if the assets meet the following conditions:

* they are held under a business model whose objective it is “hold to collect” the associated cash flows and sell;
and

» the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Any gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) will be recycled to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss upon derecognition of the asset.

Equity investments at FV"OCT

On initial recognition, the Group may make an itrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments as at FVOCL Designation at FVOCI is not permitted if the equity
investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

¢ it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or

* on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

* it is a derivative (except for a detivative thatis a financial guarantee contract or a designated and effective hedging
instrument).

Investments in equity instruments at FEVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve. The cumulative gain or loss is
transferred to retained earnings within the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Dividends on these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Financial assets at FVIPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for measurement at amortised cost or FVOCI are categorised at fair
value through profit and loss. Further, irrespective of business model financial assets whose contractual cash flows
are not solely payments of principal and interest are accounted for at FVTPL. All dertvative financial instruments
fall into this category, except for those designated and effective as hedging instruments, for which the hedge
accounting requirements apply (see below). The category also contains investments in equity shares.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.15  Financial instrtuments (continued)
5.15.3 Subsequent measurement of financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at FVIPL (continued)

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss. The fair values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market
transactions or using a valuation technique where no active market exists.

The Group’s financial assets at FVIPL comprise of the investment in equity shares and funds.

5.15.4 Impairment of financial assets
The Group computes expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial instruments that are not measured
at fair value through profit or loss:

= J.oan to customers
*  Bank balances and short-term deposits
= Wakala investments

®  Other financial assets
Equity instruments are not subject to Expected Credit Losses.

Dmpairment of credit facilities (loans to customers)

Impairment on credit facilities is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position at an amount equal
to the higher of ECL under IFRS 9 according to the CBK guidelines, and the provisions required by the CBK
instructions.

Impairment of financial assets other than credit favilities
The Group recognises ECL on investment in debt instruments measured at amortised cost or FVOCI and on
balances and deposits with banks and other assets.

Expected Credit Losses
The Group applies three-stage approach to measuring expected credit losses (ECL) as follows:

Stage 1: 12 months ECL

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to 12-month ECL on financial assets where there has
not been significant increase in credit risk since their initial recognition or on exposures that ate determined to
have a low credit risk at the reporting date. The Group considers a financial asset to have low credit risk when its
credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.

Stage 2: Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on financial assets where there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition but are not credit impaired.

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL on financial assets that are determined
to be credit impaired based on objective evidence of impairment.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.15  Financial instruments (continued)
5.15.4 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Stage 3: Lifetime ECL — credit impaired (continued)

Life time ECL is ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial instrument.
The 12-month ECL is the portion of life time expected credit loss that result from default events that are possible
within the 12 months after the reporting date. Both life time ECLs and 12-month ECLs are calculated on either
an individual basis or a collective basis depending on the nature of the underlying portfolio of financial
instruments.

Determining the stage of impairment

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is credit impaired.
The Group considers a financial asset to be credit impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred or when contractual payments are
90 days past due.

At each reporting date, the Group also assesses whether there has been significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the remaining expected life from the reporting
date with the risk of default at the date of initial recognition. The quantitative criteria used to determine a
significant increase in credit risk is a series of relative and absolute thresholds. All financial assets that are 30 days
past due are deemed to have significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and migrated to stage 2 even
if other criteria do not indicate a significant increase in credit risk.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are probability weighted estimates of ctedit losses and are measured as the present value of all cash shortfalls
discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial instrument. Cash shortfall represent the difference between
cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive.
The key clements in the measurement of ECL include probability of default (PD), loss given default (LGD) and
exposute at default (EAD). The Group estimates these elements using appropriate credit risk models taking into
consideration the internal and external credit ratings of the assets, nature and value of collaterals, forward looking
macro-economic scenarios etc.

The Group has applied simplified approach to impairment for trade receivables and other assets as permitted
under the standard. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss expetience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Provision for credit losses in accordance with CBK instructions

The Group is required to calculate provisions for credit losses on finance credit facilities in accordance with the
instructions of CBIK on the classification of credit facilities and calculation of provisions. Credit facilities are
classified as past due when a payment has not been received on its contractual payment date or if the facility 1s in
excess of pre-approved limits. A credit facility is classified as past due and impaired when the instalment or a
principal instalment is past due for more than 90 days and if the carrying amount of the facility is greater than its
estimated recoverable value. Past due and past due and impaired loans are managed and monitored as irregular
facilities and are classified into the following four categories which are then used to determine the provisions.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.15  Financial instruments (continued)
5.15.4 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Provision for credit losses in accordance with CBK instructions (continued)

Category Criteria Specific provisions
Watch list Irregular for a period of 90 days -
Substandard Irregular for a period of 91- 180 days 20%
Doubtful Irregular for a period of 181- 365 days 50%

Bad Itregular for a period exceeding 365 days 100%

The Group may also include a credit facility in one of the above categories based on management’s judgement of
a customer’s financial and/or non-financial circumstances.

Tn addition to specific provisions, minimum general provisions of 1% on cash facilities and 0.5% on nhon-cash
facilities are made on all applicable credit facilities (net of certain restricted categories of collateral) which are not
subject to specific provisioning.

5.15.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings, due to banks and accounts payable and other liabilities.

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

e  Financial liabilities at amotrtised cost
These are stated at amortised cost using effective interest rate method. The Group categorises financial liabilities
at amortised cost into the following categories:

o Borrowings

All borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and
losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are detecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process.

o Jjara financing

Ljara finance payable ending with ownership is an Islamic financing arrangement through which a financial
institution provides finance to purchase an asset by way of renting the asset ending with transferring its
ownership. This fjara finance payable is stated at the gtoss amount of the payable, net of deferred finance cost.
Deferred finance costs are expensed on a time apportionment basis taking into account the borrowing rate
attributable and the balance outstanding.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.15  Financial instruments (continued)

5.15.5 Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities (continued)

o Accounts payables and other financial liabilities

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether billed by
the suppliet or not, and classified as trade payables. Financial liabilities other than at FVIPL which are not
categorised under any of the above are classified as “other liabilities”

All interest-related charges are included within finance costs.

5.15.6 Amortised cost of financial instruments

This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. The calculation takes
into account any premium ot discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate.

5.15.7 Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

5.15.8 Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that ate traded in active markets at each reporting date is determined by
reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.

For financial insttuments not traded in an active matket, the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the current
fair value of another instrument that is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis or other valuation
models.

An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are provided in
Note 29.3

5.16  Equity, reserves and dividend payments
Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued and paid up.

Share premium includes any premiums received on issue of share capital. Any transaction costs associated with
the issuing of shares are deducted from share premium.

Legal and voluntaty reserves comptise approptiations of current and prior period profits in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies’ Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association.

Other components of equity include the following:

* foreign currency translation reserve — comptises of foreign currency translation differences arising from the
translation of financial statements of the Group’s foreign subsidiaries and associates into Kuwaiti Dinar (KDD).
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.16  Equity, reserves and dividend payments (continued)

e cumulative changes in fair value reserve — comprises of gains and losses relating to investment on fair value
through other comprehensive income and Group share of cumulative change in fair value reserve of
associates.

Retained earnings include all current and prior period profit. All transactions with owners of the parent are
recorded separately within consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have
been approved in a General Assembly.

517  Treasury shares

Treasuty shares consist of the Parent Company’s own issued shares that have been re-acquired by the Group and
not yet reissued or cancelled. The treasury shares are accounted for using the cost method. Under this method,
the weighted average cost of the shares re-acquired is charged to a contra account in equity.

When the treasury shares are reissued, gains are credited to a separate account in equity, (the “gain on sale of
treasury shares reserve”), which is not distributable. Any realised losses are charged to the same account to the
extent of the credit balance on that account. Any excess losses are charged to retained earnings then to the
voluntaty reserve and statutory reserve. No cash dividends are paid on these shares. The issue of stock dividend
shares increases the number of treasury shares proportionately and reduces the average cost per share without
affecting the total cost of treasury shares.

5.18  Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required from the Group and amounts can be
estimated reliably. Timing or amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present obligation, based on the most
reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present
obligation. Whete there are a number of similar obligations, the likelithood that an outflow will be required in
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as 2 whole. Provisions are discounted to their
present values, where the time value of money is material.

Contingent assets are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed when
an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position, but are disclosed
unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.

5.19  Foreign currency translation

5.19.1 Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Kuwait Dinar (KD), which is also the functional currency
of the Parent Company. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using that functional currency.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.19  Foreign currency translation (continued)

5.19.2 Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective Group entity, using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the re-measurement of monetary items denominated
in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss. Non-
monetary items are not retranslated at year-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using the exchange
rates at the transaction date), except for non-monetary items measured at fair value which are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

Translation difference on non-monetaty asset classified as, “fair value through profit or loss” is reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and “fair value through other
comprehensive income” is reported as patt of the cumulative change in fair value reserve within consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

5.19.3 [Foreign operations

In the Group’s financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of Group entities with a functional
currency other than the KD are translated into KD upon consolidation. The functional currency of the entities in
the Group has remained unchanged during the reporting period.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities are translated into KD at the closing rate at the reporting date. Goodwill
and fair value adjustments atising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated into KD at the closing rate. Income and expenses have been translated into KD at
the average rate over the reporting period. Exchange differences are charged/credited to consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve in

equity.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the related cumulative translation differences recognised in consolidated
statement of changes in equity are reclassified to consolidated statement of profit or loss and are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

5.20 End of service indemnity

The Parent Company and its local subsidiaries provide end of service benefits to its employees. The entitlement to
these benefits is based upon the employees’ final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum
service petiod in accordance with relevant labour law and the employees’ contracts. The expected costs of these
benefits ate accrued over the period of employment. This liability, which is unfunded, represents the amount
payable to each employee as a result of termination on the reporting date.

In addition to the end of service benefits with respect to its Kuwaiti national employees, the Group also makes
contributions to the Public Institution for Social Security calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The
Group’s obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due.

5.21 Taxation

5.21.1 National Labour Support Tax (NLST)

NLST is calculated in accordance with Law No. 19 of 2000 and the Minister of Finance Resolutions No. 24 of
2006 at 2.5% of taxable profit of the Group. As per law, allowable deductions include, share of profits of listed
associates and cash dividends from listed companies which are subjected to NLST.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
5.21  Taxation (continued)

5.21.2 Kuwait Foundation for the Advancement of Sciences (KFAS)

The contribution to KFAS is calculated at 1% of taxable profit of the Group in accordance with the modified
calculation based on the Foundation’s Boatd of Directors’ resolution, which states that income from Kuwaiti
shareholding associates and subsidiaries, and transfer to statutory reserve should be excluded from profit for the
year when determining the contribution.

5.21.3 Zakat
Contribution to Zakat is calculated at 1% of the profit of the Group in accordance with the Ministry of Finance
resolution No. 58/2007 effective from 10 December 2007.

5.21.4 Income taxes

Income tax payable on profits is recognized as an expense in the petiod in which the profits arise based on the
applicable tax laws and tax rates in each jurisdiction that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of reporting date.

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on all temporary differences, at the reporting date,
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. Deferred
tax provisions depend on whether the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and
whether it is probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferted tax assets and labilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the
asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of reporting date.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences, including carry-forward of unused tax
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary
difference can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
not probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be
utilised.

5.22 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and bank
balances, short-term deposits and shott term highly liquid investments maturing within three months from the
date of inception less due to banks and blocked bank balances.

5.23 Inventories
Inventorics are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value and the cost is determined according to the
weighted average method.

5.24 Fiduciary assets
Assets held in a trust or fiduciary capacity are not treated as assets of the Group and, accordingly, they are not
included in these consolidated financial statements.
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5 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

5.25  Related party transactions

Related parties are associates, major shareholders, board of directors, executive staff, their family members and
the companies owned by them. All related party transactions are catried out with the approval of the Group’s
management.

526  Government grants

Government grants atre recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and all
attached conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
When the grant relates to an asset, it is recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the
related asset.

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded at nominal amounts
and released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern of consumption of
the benefits of the underlying asset by equal annual instalments.

To mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Government of Kuwait has introduced measures to aid
private entities in response to the pandemic. These measures include government assistance made in respect of
eligible staff costs in the private sector.

6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements tequires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of
the asset or liability affected in future periods.

6.1 Significant management judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following significant
judgments, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements:

6.1.1. Business model assessment

The Group classifies financial assets after performing the business model test (please see accounting policy for
financial instruments sections in note 5.15). This test includes judgement reflecting all relevant evidence including
how the performance of the assets is evaluated and their performance measured and the risks that affect the
performance of the assets. Monitoring is part of the Group’s continuous assessment of whether the business
model for which the remaining financial assets are held continues to be appropriate and if it is not appropriate
whether there has been a change in business model and so a prospective change to the classification of those
assets.

6.1.2  Significant increase in credit risk

Estimated credit losses are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL
for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. IFRS 9 does not define “significant” increase. Therefore, assessment whether the credit risk of an
asset has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and
supportable forward looking information.
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6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
6.1 Significant management judgments (continued)

6.1.3 Judgements in determining the timing of satisfaction of performance obligations
The determination of the whether ot not performance obligation criterial set out in IFRS 15 relating to transfer
of control of goods and services to customers has been satisfied requires significant judgement.

6.1.4  Significant influence
Significant influence exists when the size of an entity’s own voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of
other vote holders, give the entity the practical ability unilaterally to direct the relevant activities of the company.

6.1.5  Fair values of assets and liabilities acquired
The determination of the fair value of the assets, labilities and contingent labilities as a result of business
combination requires significant judgement.

6.1.6  Classification of real estate property
Management decides on acquisition of a real estate property whether it should be classified as trading, property
held for development or investment property.

The Group classifies property as trading property if it is acquired principally for sale in the ordinary course of
business.

The Group classifies property as property under development if it is acquired with the intention of development.

The Group classifies propetty as investment propetty if it is acquired to generate rental income or for capital
appreciation, or for undetermined future use.

6.1.7  Control assessment

When determining control, management considers whether the Group has the practical ability to direct the
relevant activities of an investee on its own to generate returns for itself. The assessment of relevant activities and
ability to use its power to affect variable return requires considerable judgement.

6.2 Estimates uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be substantially
different.

6.2.1 Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

6.2.2 Impairment of non-financial assets (intangible assets)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets are reviewed at cach reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication or objective evidence of impairment or when annual impairment testing for an
asset Is required.

If any such indication or evidence exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated and an impairment loss is
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss whenever the catrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount.
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6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)
6.2 Estimates uncertainty (continued)

6.2.3 Impairment of associates

After application of the equity method, the Group determines whether it is necessary to recognize any impairment
loss on the Group’s investment in its associates, at each reporting date based on existence of any objective
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. If this is the case the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and
recognizes the amount in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

6.2.4 Impairment of financial assets

Measurement of estimated credit losses involves estimates of loss given default and probability of default. Loss
given default is an estimate of the loss arising in case of default by customer. Probability of default is an estimate
of the likelihood of default in the future. The Group based these estimates using reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information, which is based on assumptions for the future movement of different economic
drivers and how these drivers will affect each othet.

6.2.5 Revaluation of investment properties

The Group carries its investment properties at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The Group engaged independent valuation specialists to determine fair
values and the valuators have used valuation techniques to atrive at these fair values. These estimated fair values
of investment properties may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an atm’s length transaction at
the reporting date.

6.2.6 Usetul lives of depreciable assets

Management reviews its estimate of the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the
expected utility of the assets. Uncertainties in these estimates relate to technical obsolescence that may change the
utility of certain software and equipment.

6.2.7 Business combinations

Management uses valuation techniques in determining the fair values of the various elements of a business
combination. Particularly, the fair value of contingent consideration is dependent on the outcome of many
variables that affect future profitability.

6.2.8  Fair value of financial instruments

Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This requires management to develop estimates and
assumptions based on market inputs, using observable data that market participants would use in pricing the
instrument. Where such data is not observable, management uses its best estimate. Estimated fair values of
financial instruments may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the
reporting date.

6.2.9 Impairment of inventories

Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or obsolete, an
estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this estimation is performed
on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but which are old or obsolete, are assessed
collectively and a provision applied according to the inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence,
based on historical selling prices.
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6 Significant management judgements and estimation uncertainty
(continued)

6.2.10 Contract revenue

Recognised amounts of service and related receivables reflect management’s best estimate of each contract’s
outcome and stage of completion. For more complex contracts in particular, costs to complete and contract
profitability are subject to significant estimation uncettainty.

7 Subsidiary companies

7.1 Details of the Group’s material consolidated subsidiaries as of the reporting date are as follows:

Country of
Subsidiary registration Propo.rtl?n of
and place ownership interest
of business held by the Group Nature of business
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
Noor Telecommunication Company - KSCC Kuwait 49.14% 49.14%  Telecommunications and IT Services
(though the Group holds 49.14% of the
subsidiary, the Group exercises control over
the subsidiary based on its ability to appoint
majority board members)
Noor Kuwait Holding — KSCC Kuwait 99.95% 99.95% Investment and related activities
Kuwaiti Indian Holding Company - KSCC Kuwait 56.59% 56.59%  Investment and related activities
Noor GCC Islamic Fund Kuwait 94.41% 93.96% Investment and related activities
Hotels Global Group Company - PSC Jordan 100% 100% Hospitality
7.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

The Group includes two subsidiaries, with material non-controlling interests (INCI):

Proportion of
ownership
interests and
voting rights

Name held by the NCI Profit/(loss) allocated to NCI Accumulated NCI
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

% % KD KD KD KD

Noor Telecommunication Company-
KSCC, (NTEL) 50.86% 50.86% 282,290 758,693 5,244,836 5,083,245

Kuwaiti Indian Holding Company -
KSCC (KIHC) 43.41% 43.41% (17,657) 75,290 1,161,110 1,224,403

Individually immaterial subsidiaries
with non- controlling interests 9,964 8,785 327,580 328,120

274,597 842,768 6,733,526 6,635,768
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7 Subsidiary companies (continued)

7.2 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information for the above subsidiaries, before intra-group eliminations, is set out below:

s

NTEL KIHC
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD KD KD

Non-current assets 6,791,259 7,152,063 870,197 -
Current assets 7,687,780 6,921,784 1,866,349 2,879,673
Total assets 14,479,039 14,073,847 2,736,546 2,879,673
Non-current liabilities 797,438 642 403 6,795 5,793
Current liabilities 3,875,046 3,924,796 58,267 56,724
Total liabilities 4,672,484 4,567,199 65,062 62,517
Equity attributable to owners of the

Parent Company 4,561,719 4,423,403 1,510,374 1,592,753
Non-controlling interests (including

NCI of the sub subsidiary) 5,244,836 5,083,245 1,161,110 1,224,403
Total income 12,352,669 13,482,287 14,514 237,841
Profit / (loss) for the year 469,696 1,427,779 (40,673) 173,433
Other comprehensive loss for the year (237,319) (472,139) - -
Total comprehensive income / (loss)

for the year 232,377 955,640 (40,673) 173,433
-attributable to owners of the Parent

Company 70,787 437,219 (23,016) 98,143

-attributable to NCI 161,590 518,421 (17,657) 75,290
Net cash flow from/(used in)

operating activities 758,193 392,979 372,089 (321,429)
Net cash flow from investing activities 180,515 92,247 189,759 36,727
Net cash flow used in financing

activities (957,890) (360,985) (100,605) (104,040)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) (19,182) 124,241 461,243 (388,742)
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7 Subsidiary companies (continued)

7.3 Disposal of Subsidiary Companies

a) During the previous year the Parent Company disposed 32.7% of Noor Al Salhiya Real Estate Co.- KSCC
(“NSREC”) (subsidiaty), equity interest (Group ownership by the time of sale was 59.1%) to its related
parties which resulted in loss of control over “NSREC”. As a result of this disposal, the Group lost its
control over another subsidiatry, Nootr CM Holding Company KSC (“NCM”) where the Group’s
ownership interest declined from 98% to 49%. Consequent to loss of control over NCM, the Group’s
ownership of NSREC was further diluted by 9.5%. Accordingly, NSREC and NCM were reported as
discontinued operation for the year ended 31 December 2019. This resulted in a loss of KID1,456,681
recorded in the previous year, being the difference between fair value of consideration KID9,772,513 and

carrying value of the net assets disposed KID11,229,194.

The remaining stake of NSREC and NCM was accounted as investments in associates. However, during
3rd and 4t quarter of previous year, the Group disposed the balance stake of 16.9% and 49% of the NSREC

and NCM respectively.

8 Cost of sales and services, general, administrative and other expenses

and finance cost

a) Cost of sales and setvices includes followings

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Staff costs 5,045,462 5,260,975
Amortization 134,741 283,759
Others 5,949,034 5,013,050
11,129,237 10,657,784
b)  General, administrative and other expenses include the following:
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Staff costs 1,960,570 2,079,730
Depreciation and amortization 473,142 510,894
Other expenses 1,836,174 3,192,718
4,269,886 5,783,342

Number of staffs employed by the Parent Company as at 31 December 2020 was 37 (2019: 37).
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9 Interest and other income
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Interest income 26,149 55,163
income from wakala investments 48,254 13,823
Reversal of interest expenses on legal cases on settlement - 813,089
Reversal of impairment provision on wakala investment (note 13 b) 740,000 200,000
Other income 171,933 69,248
986,336 1,151,323
10 Net gain/(loss) on financial assets
Net gain /(loss)on financial assets, analyzed by category, is as follows:
Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Financial assets at amortised cost
- Interest on cash and bank balances and short-term deposits 26,149 55,163
- Profit from wakala investments 48,254 13,823
- Impairment in value of accounts receivable (544,178) -
- Reversal of impairment provision on wakala investments 740,000 200,000
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
- Realised (loss)/gain (145,607) 1,870,232
- Unrealised gain 73,279 1,713,417
- Dividend income 321,227 410,425
Investments at FVOCI
- recognised directly in other comprehensive income for investments at FVOCI (2,939,111) (122,120)
- recognised in statement of profit or loss as dividend income 482,034 735,099
(1,937,953) 4,876,039
Distributed as follows:
Net (loss)/gain recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
-Realized (loss)/gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss (145,607) 1,870,232
-Unrealized gain on investments at fair value through profit or loss 73,279 1,713,417
-Dividend income 803,261 1,145 524
-Impairments in value of accounts receivable (544,178) -
-Others 814,403 268,986
Net loss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income (2,939,111) (122,120)
(1,937,953) 4,876,039
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11 Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share

Earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the owners of the
Parent Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year as follows:

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to the owners of the Parent Company (KD)
- From continuing operations 11,857,421 9,533,915
- From discontinued operations - (1,456,681)
Total 11,857,421 8,077,234
Weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year (excluding 394,964,896 399,157 535
treasury share)
Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share (Fils)
- From continuing operations 30.02 23.89
- From discontinued operations - (3.65)
Total 30.02 20.24
12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows are made up as follows:

Effective annual interests/
profit rates

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD
Cash and bank balances 4,133,589 2,580,478
Short term deposits 1.0%-1.4% 2.5%-2.75% 6,997,843 5,628,943
11,131,432 8,209,421
Less: Due to banks 5.00% 6.0% (333,516) (408,598)
Less: Blocked balances and secured balances (5,990) (5,990)
Less: Short term deposits maturing after three months (1,250,000) (1,250,000)
Cash and cash equivalents as per consolidated
statements of cash flows 9,541,926 6,544,833

Due to banks represent bank overdraft facilities utilised by subsidiary and are secured by short term deposits as

at 31 December 2020 of KD 622,843 (2019: KID622,843).

Deposits amounting to KD 1,390,000 (2019: KID Nil) are secured against borrowing (refer Note 21)

Cash and cash equivalents include bank balances of KD 1,198,441 (31 December 2019: KD 1,176,284) which are
designated for the purpose of payment of dividends for the Parent Company shareholders, payment to non-
controlling interest on account of capital reduction and dividend payments of subsidiaries.
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13 Wakala investments
Effective annual interest/
profit rates

31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD
Wakala investments
Piaced with local Islamic banks - 3.00% - 1.000.000
- - 1,000,000

a) Wakala investments of KD14,324,160 (31 December 2019: KD14,324,160) placed with a local Islamic
investment company matured in the last quarter of 2008. The investee company defaulted on settlement
of these balances on the maturity date. However, revised maturity dates were stipulated by the court. The
investee company again defaulted the payment of 2nd, 3td, 4 and 5t instalments due in June 2014, 2015,
2016 and 2017 respectively. Full provision was made for receivable in accordance with the Central Bank
of Kuwait provision rules. The Group initiated various legal cases against the investee company, which
have been decided in favor of the Group. Duting the year 2019, the Parent Company has signed settlement
agreement with Investee Company and as per this agreement 50% shares of a local unlisted company
(acquired company) have been transferred to Parent Company.

The acquired company along with other entities are pursuing legal action in order to execute their joint
rights as per previous court verdict. The management of the Parent Company is of the opinion that the
financial impact of this transaction will be adjusted upon completion of the relevant legal proceedings.

b) During the previous years, the Group assumed the financial and legal obligations on wakala investments
of KD1,683,250 (in violation of the Commercial Companies Law of 1960) that the Group had placed with
the above-mentioned investment company as patt of the total wakala investments of KD14,324,160 in a
fiduciary capacity under a wakala agreement with certain related parties, despite having no such obligation
under the wakala agreement. As noted above, the amount was fully provided in accordance with Central
Bank of Kuwait rules. The Group initiated legal proceedings against the parties to recover the amount
including profits thereon. During the year 2019, consequent to a court ruling decided in favor of the
Group, the related parties entered into a settlement agreement with the Parent Company to settle the above
amount of KD1,683,250. The Parent Company so far received an amount of KID1,000,000 as per the
settlement schedule and remaining amount of KID683,250 is due in the year 2021. This has resulted in a
reversal of provision on wakala investment amounting to KD800,000 during the year 2020 (2019:
KD200,000) in accordance with Central Bank of IKuwait credit provisioning rules.

14 Investments at fair value through profit or loss

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Quoted securities 7,432,583 11,116,688
- Local 3,607,799 6,875,479
- Foreign 3,824,784 4,241,209
Foreign funds 167,285 587,557
7,599,868 11,704,245

Quoted shares with a fair value of KD 869,694 (2019: KD 3,899,087) are secured against borrowings (refer note
21).



Noor Financial Investment Company -~ BRSO amd Subsidiaries

ivinted Fianoind Stataments
ainber 20280
Wuwwait

Jen
FaY

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

15 Accounts receivable and other assets
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Financial assets:
Accounts receivable (net of impairment) * 3,059,283 2,826,251
Due from the Ultimate Parent Company - 2,457
Due from other related parties 9,382 116,844
Due from investment brokerage companies 375,010 469,720
Accrued income (net of impairment) 407,449 510,118
Other financial assets 267,659 364,752
4,118,783 4,290,142
Non-financial assets:
Other assets 370,759 155,756
4,489,542 4,445 898

*This includes receivable related to consultancy contracts and projects which are mainly related to public sector
entities. Trade receivable included an amount of KD 2,736,833 (2019: KID 2,078,711) from public sector entities.
The average credit period on sales of goods and provision of services is 120 days. No interest is charged on
outstanding trade receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses on trade receivables. The loss rates are based on days past due for groupings of different debtor segments
with similar loss patterns. The calculation also considers the past default experience of the debtor, current and
forward-looking factors affecting the debtor’s ability to settle the amount outstanding, general economic condition
of the industry in which the debtor operates and an assessment of both current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date.

Trade receivables are written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.

On the above basis the expected credit loss for trade receivables as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019
was determined as follows:

Less than 60-120 121-365 More than

Current 60 days days days 365 days Total
31 December 2020: KD KD KD KD KD KD
Trade receivables:
Expected credit loss rate (approximate %) 2.5% 3.0% 5.9% 30.9% 98.1%
Gross carrying amount 1,741,308 615,722 343,383 617,735 751,276 4,069,424
Lifetime expected credit loss 43,723 18,693 20,235 190,721 736,769 1,010,141
31 December 2019:
Trade receivables:
Expected credit loss rate (approximate %) 1.4% 1.7% 1.9% 33.2% 95.3%
Gross carrying amount 1,227,571 1,116,780 406,495 118,600 843,085 3,712,531
Life time expected credit loss 16,744 19,072 7,806 39,359 803,299 886,280
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15 Accounts receivable and other assets (continued)
The movement in the provision for trade receivable is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 886,280 1,040,258
Provision for the year 123,861 -
Due to disposal of subsidiaries - (153,978)
1,010,141 886,280

16 Investments at fair value through other comprehensive income

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Quoted securities 6,899,558 9,081,667
- Local 6,617,373 8,799,564
- Foreign 282,185 282,103
Unquoted equity securities 5,842,098 6,465,046
- Local 1,442,640 1,286,213
- Foreign 4,399,458 5,178,833
Foreign funds 499,025 621,355
13,240,681 16,168,068

These investments in equity instruments are held for medium to long-term strategic purposes. Accordingly, the
Group has elected to designate these investments in equity instruments as at FVOCI as it believes that recognising
short-term fluctuations in the fair value of these investments in consolidated statement of profit or loss would
not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and realising
their performance potential in the long run.

Quoted shares with a fair value of KID6,534,901 (2019: KID8,697,761) and unquoted shares with a fair value of
KD319,971 (2019: KD96,124) are secured against borrowings (refer note 21).

17 Investment in associates

This represents the Group’s stake of 35.25% (2019: 35.25%) in Meezan Bank Limited, an Islamic Bank operating
in Pakistan.
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17 Investment in associates (continued)
Movements of the investments in associates during the year are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 46,722,338 44 053,153
Addition due to deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Note 7.3) - 3,881,975
De-recognition due to disposal of subsidiary (Note 7.3) - (2,396,970)
Share of results 14,845,557 10,769,182
Share of other comprehensive (loss)/ income of associates (3,190,730) 6,290,837
Disposal/partial disposal of associates - (8,139,172)
Transfer to financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income - (24,529)
Dividend received (4,980,065) (3,883,480)
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1,279,049) (3,779,049)
Other adjustment - (49,609)
Balance at the end of the year 52,118,051 46,722,338

17.1  Summarised financial information in respect of Meezan Bank Limited is set out below. The summarised
financial information below represents the amounts presented in the financial statements of the associate
(and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the
Group and the associates.

17.1.1. Meezan Bank Limited.

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Total assets 2,884,284,044 2,203,581,760
Total liabilities and non-controlling interests (2,748,310,527) (2,083,021,095)
Equity attributable to shareholders of Meezan Bank 135,973,517 120,560,665
Revenue 201,398,779 184,484,775
Profit for the year attributable to the shareholders of Meezan bank 42,316,419 30,495,634
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (7,215,006) 18,666,246
Total comprehensive income for the year 35,101,413 49,161,880
Dividends received from the associate during the year (net of taxes) 4,980,065 3,883,480
Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Meezan Bank 35.25% 35.25%
Group share in Meezan Bank’s net assets 47,928,927 42,496,307
Goodwill 4,188,909 4,226,031
Carrying value of Group’s ownership interest in Meezan Bank 52,117,836 46,722,338

As at 31 December 2020 the fair value of the Group’s interest in Meezan Bank Limited, which is listed on the
Pakistan Stock Exchange was KD 98,402,353(2019: KID 84,389,024), based on the quoted market price available
on that exchange, which is a level 1 input in terms of IFRS 13.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

17 Investment in associates (continued)
17.1.2 Group’s share of associate’s contingent liabilities:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019

KD KD
Guarantees 25,153,383 26,792,032
Letters of credit 101,009,867 67,897,072
Commitments in respect of forward exchange contracts 124,587,692 184,223,449
Commitment for the acquisition of operating fixed assets 461,099 532,750
Commitment in respect of financing 264,571,360 238,063,655

515,783,401 517,508,958

The local income tax authority in Pakistan has raised a demand requesting Mezzan Bank Limited, an associate of
the Group, to pay additional tax amounting to KID3.4 million (Group’s share KID1.2 million) for prior yeats. The
associate has obtained a stay order against this demand and has also filed appeals with the relevant Appellate
Authorities. Group’s management, in consultation with tax advisors, is confident that the decision in respect of
this matter would be in Group’s favour and, accordingly, no provision is made in these consolidated financial
statements with respect thereto.

17.2  During the previous year, group has disposed, partially disposed below associates:

e As a result of disposing, NSREC, the Group has de-recognised its associates owned through the
disposed subsidiary, including National Tamouh GTC Company - WLL (48%), Ikarus Real Estate
Company - LLC (50%), Sidra Middle Fast Company WLL (25%), Durra National Combined Real
Estate Company - WLL (50%) and Durra United Central Market Company - WLL (33%) with a total
carrying value of KID2,396,970 as of the disposal date.

e 2.93% of Meezan Bank Limited for a total consideration of KID6,374,344 resulting in a net gain of
KD1,596,799.

e Bayt Al Raya Real Estate Development Company (50%) for a total consideration of KID1,048,662
resulting in a net loss of KID108,711.

e Noor Al Salhiya Real Estate Company - KSCC (16.7%) stake to the Ultimate Parent Company for a
consideration of KID3,000,000.

e Noor CM Holding Company - KSC (49.5%) stake for a consideration of KID867,038, resulting in a
net gain of KID81,322.

18 Investment properties
The movement in investment properties is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Fair value as at 1 January 13,895,210 31,738,975
De-recognition due to disposal of subsidiary (note 7.3) - (17,396,279)
Additions during the year - 667,000
Changes in fair value (note 18.3) (872,677) (1,150,306)
Foreign currency translation 33,550 35,820

13,056,083 13,895,210
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

18 Investment properties (continued)

18.1 Investment properties comprise of lands and buildings in the following countries:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
Level 3 Level 3
KD KD
Investment properties
Kuwait
- Land and buildings in Kuwait 10,516,000 10,622,000
Outside Kuwait
- Land in Jordan and buildings in UAE 1,635,953 2,402,297
- Building in UK 904,130 870,913

13,066,083 13,895,210

18.2 Investments properties amounting to KD8,481,000 (2019: KD8409,000) and KD Nil (2019:
KD1,546,000) ate secured against bank borrowings and Ijara Financing facilities respectively (refer note
21).

18.3 At 31 December 2020, the Group re-valued its propetties based on independent valuations (refer note 29.4
for further details relating to fair values).

19 Goodwill and other Intangible assets

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Goodwill (Note 19.1) 2,029,278 2,029,278
Other intangible assets (Note 19.2) - 134,741
Total goodwill and other intangible assets 2,029,278 2,164,019

19.1.  Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the acquired subsidiaties. Goodwill has been allocated to the IT service business of the
Group as that is the cash generating unit (CGU) which is expected to benefit from the synergies of the business
combination. It is also the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for impairment purposes.

Impairment testing

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the recoverable amount of the CGUs to which these items are allocated. The recoverable amount is determined
based on higher of value-in-use calculations or fair value less cost to sell.
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19 Goodwill and other Intangible assets (continued)

19.1.  Goodwill (continued)
Management used the following approach to determine values to be assigned to the following key assumptions
in the value in use calculations

Key assumption  Basis used 1o determine value to be assigned to key assumplion

Cgovripratg Anticipated average growth rate of 3% (2019: 4%) per annum. Value assigned reflects past

experience and changes in economic environment.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period have been extrapolated using a growth rate of 3%
(2019: 4%). This growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate of the
matket in which the CGU operates.

Discount rate Discount rates of 17.5% (2019: 14%). Discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific
risks relating to the relevant CGU.

The Group has performed a sensitivity analysis by varying these input factors by a reasonably possible margin and
assessing whether the change in input factors result in any of the goodwill allocated to appropriate cash generating
units being impaired. Based on the above analysis, thete are no indications that goodwill included in any of the
cash generating units is impaired.

19.2 Other Intangible assets — Indefeasible right of use (IRU)
Intangible asset comprises of indefeasible right of use (IRU) to a telecommunication asset arising from a
subsidiary and the movement is as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Cost
At the beginning of the year 3,267,810 3,267,810
Balance at the end of the year 3,267,810 3,267,810
Accumulated amortization and impairment
At the beginning of the year (3,133,069) (1,904,310)
Charge for the year (134,741) (283,759)
Impairments in value - (945,000)
At the end of the year (3,267,810) (3,133,069)

Net book value at the end of the year - 134,741
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20 Accounts payable and other liabilities

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2020 2019

KD KD
Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable 3,095,126 2,093,767
Taxes payable 1,138,018 1,085,648
Accrued expenses 933,645 945,777
Dividend payable 224,675 180,039
Other payables 820,202 943 607
Due to related parties 495,000 452,000
Payable on account of capital reduction in subsidiary 942,117 957,060
Lease liabilities 1,623,412 1,499,662

9,272,195 8,157,560

All above financial liabilities are non-interest beating except for lease liabilities. The carrying values of the above

liabilities approximate their fair values.

21 Borrowings

Effective interest/

Profit rate (p.a.%) Security
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD
Short term
Tawaruq Payable — Kuwaiti Dinar - 5.58% Secured - 162,146
Long term
Loans from banks — Kuwaiti Dinar 3.31% 4.57% Secured 20,199,375 21,459,375
28 el Uit Parent 3.50% 475%  Secured 2,500,000 5,000,000
Company — Kuwaiti Dinar
ljara financing — Kuwaiti Dinar - 5.75% Secured - 730,500
22,699,375 27,189,875
22,699,375 27,352,021

21.1 During the yeat, the Parent Company has prepaid an amount of KID1,260,000 to the lenders. These loans
are fully secured by investments at fair value through profit or loss (note 14), investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income (note 16) and investment properties (note 18), and against shares of
two unlisted subsidiaties of the Parent Company. Out of KID20,199,375 an amount of KID1,777,500 is due
in the year 2022 and the remaining amount of KID18,421,875 is due at the end of the year 2023,

21.2  During the year, the Parent company has paid a total of KID2,500,000 against loan obtained from Ultimate
Parent Company. The remaining amount of loan from the Ultimate Parent Company is due in December

2021.

213 ljara financing contracts and Tawaruq Payable was fully paid during the year 2020.
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21 Borrowings (continued)
21.4 The above loans are due as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Short term Tawaruq Payable - 162,146
Long term loans
- Current portion due within one year 2,500,000 5,000,000
- Due after more than one year 20,199,375 21,459,375
Long term ljara financing
- Current portion due within one year - 200,000
- Due after more than one year - 530,500
22,699,375 27,352,021

21.5  The fair value of the short-term financing including the current portion of long-term borrowings equals
their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. The fair value of the long-term
financing of the Group amounted to KID20,151,243(2019: KID20,361,920) with carrying value of
KI>20,199,375(2019: KD 21,989,875). The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate
based on the borrowing rate of 3.5% (2019: 4.5%) and are within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

22 Share capital and share premium

22.1.  The authorised, issued and paid up share capital of the Parent Company as at 31 December 2020
comprise of 413,162,761 shares of 100 Fils each (2019: 413,162,761 shares of 100 Fils each) fully paid
up in cash.

220  Share premium is not available for distribution.

23 Treasury shares
The Group holds treasury shares as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
Number of shares 18,197,865 18,197,865
Percentage of issued shares 4.40% 4.40%
Market value (KD) 3,075,439 2,147,348
Cost (KD) 4,138,316 4,138,316

Reserves equivalent to the cost of treasury shares held are not distributable. The treasury shares are not held as
collateral against any financial liability.

24 Legal and voluntary reserves

In accordance with the Companies Law and the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the Parent
Company’s profit before KFAS, Zakat, NLST and directors’ remuneration for the year is to be transferred to legal
reserve. The Parent Company may resolve to discontinue such annual transfer when the reserve totals 50% of the
paid-up share capital. No transfer is required in a year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or where
accumulated losses exist.
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24 Legal and voluntary reserves(continued)

Distribution of the legal reserve is limited to the amount required to enable the payment of a dividend up to 5%
of paid-up share capital to be made in years when retained eatnings are not sufficient for the distribution of a

dividend of that amount.

In accordance with the Parent Company’s Articles of Association, a certain percentage of the Parent Company’s
profit before KFAS, Zakat, NLST and directors’ remuneration, is to be transferred to the voluntary reserve at the
discretion of the Board of Directors which is to be approved at the General Assembly. No transfer is required in
a year in which the Parent Company has incurred a loss or where accumulated losses exist. For the year 2020,
Board of Directors proposed to transfer 10% of the above-mentioned profit to the voluntary reserve and this is
subject to approval of General Assembly of shareholders. There are no restrictions on distribution of voluntary

reserve.

25 Cumulative changes in fair value, foreign currency translation reserve

and Non-controlling interests

251  Cumulative changes in fair value

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD

Balance at 1 January 1,416,153 (4,992,835)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
Net changes in fair value of investments at FVOCI (2,818,410) 118,151
Share of other comprehensive income of associates (3,190,730) 6,290,837
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (6,009,140) 6,408,988
Balance at 31 December® (4,592,987) 1,416,153

* Total cumulative changes in fair value includes an amount of KD2,842,451 (2019: KD6,033,181) which

represents the Group’s share of associated cumulative changes in fair values.

25.2  Foreign currency translation reserve

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD

Balance at 1 January (23,090,067) (20,909,175)
Other comprehensive income / (loss):

Exchange differences arising from translation of foreign subsidiaries 64,552 67,949
Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign associates (1,279,049) (3,795,618)
Transferred to the statement of profit or loss on disposal / partial disposal of

associates - 1,546,777

Other comprehensive loss for the year (1,214,497) (2,180,892)

Balance at 31 December (24,304,564)

(23,090,067)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

25 Cumulative changes in fair value, foreign currency translation reserve
and Non-controlling interests (continued)

25.3 Non-controlling interests

Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Balance at 1 January 6,635,768 14,620,163
Amounts due to non-controlling interest on reduction of share capital by a subsidiary (10,502) (16,431)
Decrease in non-controlling interest due to disposal of subsidiaries - (8,524,825)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interest by a subsidiary (45,636) (45,636)
Transactions with non-controlling interests (56,138) (8,586,892)
Profit for the year 274,597 842,768
Other comprehensive l0ss:
- Net change in fair value of OCl investments (120,701) (240,271)
Total other comprehensive loss for the year (120,701) (240,271)
Total comprehensive income for the year 153,896 602,497
Balance at 31 December 6,733,526 6,635,768
26 Dividend distribution and Directors’ remuneration

Subject to the requisite consent of the relevant authorities and approval from the General Assembly, the Parent
Company’s Board of Directors propose to distribute a cash dividend to shareholders equivalent to 6 Fils per share
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 6 Fils). The Board of Directors’ of the Parent Company proposed
to distribute an amount of KID165,000 as directors’ remuneration for year ended 31 December 2020 (2019:
KD120,000) subject to approval of the General Assembly of the Parents Company’s Shareholders.

The shareholders of the Parent Company at the Annual General Meeting held on 29 April 2020, approved to
distribute a cash dividend to shareholders equivalent to 6 fils per share amounting to KID2,369,790 for the year
ended 31 December 2019 and an amount of KID120,000 as directors’ remunetation for year ended 31 December
2019.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

27 Segment analysis (continued)

Geographical Segments
The geographical segments are as follows:

Profit/(loss) before taxes and

directors’ remunerations Assets Liabilities
31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec 31 Dec
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD KD KD KD KD
Domestic and GCC (1,962,925) (1,423,456) 44,027,299 48,388,426 31,346,486 34,883,232
Others 14,382,391 10,590,806 63,162,361 59,841,649 2,227,627 2,093,048

12,419,466 9,167,350 107,189,660 108,230,075 33,574,113 36,976,280

28 Related party transactions

Related parties represent the Ultimate Parent Company, associates, directors and key management personnel of
the Group, and other related parties such as subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent Company (fellow subsidiaries),
major shareholders and companies in which directors and key management personnel of the Group are principal
owners or over which they are able to exercise significant influence or joint control. I{ey management personnel
include board of directors, chief executive officers (CEO) and principal officers of the Parent Company and its
subsidiaries. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions ate approved by the Group’s management.

Significant telated party transactions and balances included in the consolidated financial statements are as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Consolidated statement of financial position:
Due from related parties and Ultimate Parent Company (refer note 15)
-Due from Ultimate Parent Company - 2,457
-Due from other related parties 18,462 116,844
-Accrued income and management fees 462,515 460,842
Due to related parties (refer note 20)
- Due to Ultimate Parent Company 9,080 -
- Key management personal and other related parties 495,000 452,000
Loans payable to Ultimate Parent Company (note 21) 2,500,000 5,000,000
Transactions with related parties
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries (KD 5,890,538 — note 7.3)
- Retained investment property of the disposed subsidiary as a part of the disposal
consideration (note 7.3) - 2,890,538
- Cash consideration received (note 7.3) - 3,000,000
Proceeds from disposal of an associate (note 17.2) - 867,038
Disposal of associate to Ultimate Parent Company (note 17.2) - 3,000,000

Investments in related parties
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 1,347 33,971
Investments at FVOCI 6,874,858 8,839,809
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28 Related party transactions (continued)

31 Dec. 31 Dec.

2020 2019

KD KD
Consolidated statement of profit or loss
Management and placement fees 3,438 2,941
Finance costs — Ultimate Parent Company 142,040 549,623
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 7.3) - 1,456,681
Gain on disposal of an associate (note 17.2) - 81,322
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group:
Salaries and other short-term benefits 668,596 608,600
Remuneration for committees 330,000 330,000
End of service benefits 26,478 43,773
Board of directors’ remuneration 165,000 120,000
Total key management compensation 1,190,074 1,102,373

29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement
29.1 Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position may also be categorized as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Financial assets at amortised cost
e Cash and bank balances 4,133,589 2,580,478
e  Short term deposits 6,997,843 5,628,943
o Wakala investments - 1,000,000
e Accounts receivable and other assets (note 15) 4,118,783 4,290,142
15,250,215 13,499,563
Investments at fair value through profit or loss (note 14) 7,599,868 11,704,245
Investments at FVOCI (note 16) 13,240,681 16,168,068

36,090,764 41,371,876

Financial liabilities (at amortised costs) :

e Due to banks (note 12) 333,516 408,598
e  Accounts payable and other liabilities (note 20) 9,272,195 8,157,560
e Borrowings (note 21) 22,699,375 27,352,021

32,305,086 35,918,179

29.2 Fair value measurement

Fair value represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The Group measures financial instruments such
as investments at fair value though profit or loss and investments at FVOCI and measurement details are disclosed
in note 29.3 to the consolidated financial statements. In the opinion of the Group’s management, except for
certain long-term borrowing (refer note 21) the carrying amounts of all other financial assets and liabilities which
are carried at amortised costs are considered a reasonable approximation of their fair values.
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29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

29.2  Fair value measurement (continued)
The Group also measures non-financial assets such as investment properties at fair value at each annual reporting
date (refer 29.4).

29.3  Fair value hierarchy

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are grouped into
three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the observability of significant inputs
to the measurement, as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and

Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data (i.e., unobservable inputs).

The level within which the asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest level of significant input
to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurting basis in the statement of consolidated
financial position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
KD KD KD KD
31 December 2020
Financial assets at fair value:
Investments at fair value through profit or
loss
-Quoted shares a 7,432,583 - - 7,432,583
-Foreign funds b - 167,285 - 167,285

Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

-Quoted shares a 6,899,558 - - 6,899,558
-Unquoted shares c - 4,395,553 1,446,545 5,842,098
-Foreign funds b - 499,025 - 499,025
Total assets 14,332,141 5,061,863 1,446,545 20,840,549
31 December 2019
Financial assets at fair value:
Investments at fair value through profit or
loss
-Quoted shares a 11,116,688 - - 11,116,688
- Foreign funds b - 587,557 - 587,557
Investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
-Quoted shares a 9,081,667 - - 9,081,667
-Unguoted shares c - 5,111,082 1,353,964 6,465,046
-Foreign funds b - 621,355 - 621,355
Total assets 20,198,355 6,319,994 1,353,964 27,872,313

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair values, ate unchanged compared
to the previous year.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

29.3  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Measurement at fair value

The Group’s finance team performs valuations of financial instruments for financial reporting purposes, including
Level 3 fair values, in consultation with third party valuation specialists for complex valuations, where required.
Valuation techniques are selected based on the characteristics of each instrument, with the overall objective of
maximising the use of matket-based information.

The methods and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are as follows:
Financial instruments in level 1, 2 and 3

a) Quoted shares

Quoted shares represent all listed equity securities which are publicly traded in stock exchanges. Where quoted
prices in an active market are available, the fair value of such investments have been determined by reference to
their quoted bid prices at the reporting date (Level 1) and if the market for an investment is not active, the Group
has established fair value by using valuation techniques.

Financial insttuments in level 2 & 3

b) Foreign funds (level 2)

The underlying investments of foreign funds primarily comptise of foreign quoted and unquoted securities.
Information for these investments is limited to periodic financial reports provided by the investment managers.
These investments are carried at net asset values reported by the investment managers. Due to the nature of these
investments, the net asset values repotted by the investment managers represent the best estimate of fair values
available for these investments.

¢) Unquoted shares (level 2 and 3)

The consolidated financial statements include holdings in unlisted securities which are measured at fair value. Fair
value is estimated using a discounted cash flow model or other valuation technique which includes some
assumptions that are not supportable by observable market prices or rates.

Level 3 Fair value measurements

The Group’s financial assets classified in level 3 uses valuation techniques based on significant inputs that are not
based on observable market data. The financial instruments within this level can be reconciled from beginning to
ending balances as follows:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
As at 1 January 1,353,964 2,105,193
Changes in fair value during the year recognised in other comprehensive income 92,581 (793,891)
Reclassified from investments in associates due to disposal - 42,662

As at 31 December 1,446,545 1,353,964
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

29.3  Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 3 Fair value measutements (continued)
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values measurement to changes in the most significant unobservable
inputs ate as follows:

The fair values are estimated using net assets values of the underlined investments and applying a discount of
15%-20% (2019: 15%) for lack of marketability. Discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that
the Group has determined that market participants would consider these discounts when pricing the investments.

The impact on other comprehensive income would be immaterial if the relevant risk variable used to fair value
the level 3 investments wete changed by 5%.

294 Fair value measurement of non-financial assets
The following table shows the information regarding the level 3 fair value measurements of investment

properties:

Range of unobservable inputs
Description and Valuation

technique Significant unobservable inputs 2020 2019
Yield Method
Commercial Building in Estimated market price for land (per sqm) KD7,350 KD7,250
et Average monthly rent (per sqm) KD5.47 KD5.63
Yield rate 7.26% 7.54%
Invest‘ment Building in Estimated market price for land (per sqm) KD950 KD1,050
el Average monthly rent (per sqm) KD3.86 KD3.86
Yield rate 8.29% 7.49%
Building in UAE Vacancy rate 15% 15%
Average monthly rent (per sqm) KD1.36 KD2.53
Yield rate 9% 10%
Building in UK Average monthly rent (per sqm) KD19.03 KD18.33
Yield rate 6.89% 6.89%
Market Approach
Land in Kuwait Estimated market price for land (per sqm}) KD1,100 KD1,150

Land in Jordan Estimated market price for land (per sqm) KD55.3 KD55.2
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

29 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category and fair value
measurement (continued)

Buildings in Kuwait represent rental properties on freehold land categorized as “Investment Lands” (i.e. land
which can be used to construct multiple residential unit buildings, commercial units apartments, villas, Duplex
and Studios. The fair value of the investment propetty has been determined based on valuations obtained from
independent valuators, who are specialized in valuing these types of investment properties. The significant inputs
and assumptions ate developed in close consultation with management.

One of these valuators is a local bank (for local investment properties) who has valued the investment properties
using primarily two methods, one of which is the yield method and other being a combination of the market
comparison approach for the land and cost minus depreciation approach for the buildings. The other valuator
who is a local/foreign reputable valuator has also valued the investment properties primarily by using a
combination of the methods noted above. When the market compatison approach is used adjustments have
been incorporated for factors specific to the land in question, including plot size, location,
construction/development cost and current use. For the valuation purpose for properties in Kuwait, the Group
has selected the lower value of the two valuations (2019: lower of two valuations).

30 Risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise of borrowings, due to banks and accounts payable and other
liabilities. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The Group has various financial assets such as accounts receivable and other assets, cash and bank balances, short
term deposits, wakala investments and investment securities which arise directly from operations.

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate
risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Patent Company’s Boatd of Directors sets out policies for managing each of these risks as discussed below.

The Group does not use derivative financial instruments.

30.1 Matrket risk
The significant financial risks to which the Group is exposed to are described below:

a) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group mainly operates in the Middle East and few Asians countries and is exposed to foreign cutrency risk
arising from various foreign currency exposures, primarily with respect to US Dollar and UAE Ditham. The
Parent Company’s consolidated statement of financial position can be affected by the movement in these
currencies. To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-IQuwaiti Dinar cash flows are
monitored.

Generally, the Group’s risk management procedures distinguish short-term foreign currency cash flows (due
within twelve months) from longer-term cash flows. Foreign currency risk is managed on the basis of limits
determined by the Parent Company’s board of directors and a continuous assessment of the Groups’ open
positions.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
The Group’s significant net exposure to foreign currency denominated monetary assets less monetary liabilities
at the reporting date, translated into IQuwaiti Dinars at the closing rates are as follows:

2020 2019
Equivalent Equivalent

KD KD
US Dollar 488,100 1,444,835
UAE Dirhams 25,810 144,635

Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the year depending on the volume and nature of the transactions.
Nonetheless, a reasonable possible change in exchanges rates of the foreign currencies noted above would not
have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated profit or loss.

b) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows or the fair
values of financial instruments. The Group is exposed to interest rate risk with tespect to due to banks and
borrowings which are at floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the Group by maintaining an appropriate
mix between fixed and floating rate short term deposits and borrowings.

Positions are monitored regularly to ensure positions are maintained within established limits.

The Group’s interest rate risk sensitivity position, based on the contractual re-pricing or maturity dates of assets

and liabilities, whichever dates are eatlier, is as follows:

Upto 1 1-3 312 Over 12 Non-interest
month months Months Months bearing items Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD
At 31 December 2020
ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 2,804 - - - 4,130,785 4,133,589
Short term deposits 1,390,000 4,357,843 1,250,000 - - 6,997,843
Investments at fair value through profit
or loss - - - - 7,599,868 7,599,868

Accounts receivable and other assets - - - - 4,489,542 4,489,542
Inventories - - - - 589,801 589,801
Investments at FVOCI - - - - 13,240,681 13,240,681
Investment in associates - - - - 52,118,051 52,118,051
Investment properties - - - - 13,056,083 13,056,083
Property and equipment - - - - 1,677,607 1,677,607
Right of use of assets - - - - 1,257,317 1,257,317
Goodwill and other intangible assets - - - - 2,029,278 2,029,278

1,392,804 4,357,843 1,250,000 - 100,189,013 107,189,660
LIABILITIES
Borrowings and due to banks 333,516 - 2,500,000 20,199,375 - 23,032,891
Accounts payable and other liabilities - 339,913 162,753 1,120,747 7,648,782 9,272,195
Provision for end of service indemnity - - - - 1,269,027 1,269,027

333,516 339,913 2,662,753 21,320,122 8,917,809 33,574,113
Total interest rate sensitivity Gap 1,059,288 4,017,930 (1,412,753) (21,320,122)
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap 1,059,288 5,077,218 3,664,465 (17,655,657)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

30.1  Market risk (continued)

b) Interest rate risk (continued)
Upto1 1-3 3-12 Over 12 Non-interest
At 31 December 2019 month months Months months bearing items Total
KD KD KD KD KD KD
ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 3,912 - - - 2,576,566 2,580,478
Short term deposits 4,378,943 - 1,250,000 - - 5,628,943
Wakala investments 1,000,000 - - - - 1,000,000
Investments at fair value through profit
or loss - - - - 11,704,245 11,704,245
Accounts receivable and other assets - - - - 4,445,898 4,445,898
Inventories - - - - 527,240 527,240
Investments at FVOCI - - - - 16,168,068 16,168,068
Investment in associates - - - - 46,722,338 46,722,338
Investment properties - - - - 13,895,210 13,895,210
Property and equipment - - - - 1,960,898 1,960,898
Right of use assets 1,432,738 1,432,738
Goodwill and other intangible assets - - - - 2,164,019 2,164,019
5,382,855 - 1,250,000 - 101,597,220 108,230,075
LIABILITIES
Borrowings and due to banks 408,598 212,146 5,150,000 21,989,875 - 27,760,619
Accounts payable and other liabilities - - 232,439 1,267,223 6,657,898 8,157,560
Provision for end of service indemnity - - - - 1,058,101 1,058,101
408,598 212,146 5,382,439 23,257,098 7,715,999 36,976,280
Total interest rate sensitivity Gap 4,974,257 (212,146) (4,132,439)  (23,257,098)
Cumulative interest rate sensitivity gap 4,974,257 4,762,111 629,672 (22,627,426)

The Group does not have any off-balance sheet financial instrument which are used to manage the interest rate
risk. The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the interest-bearing financial instruments on the profit for
the year to a reasonable possible change in interest rates with effect from the beginning of the year. Based on
observation of current market conditions it has been assumed that a reasonable possible change in the interest
rates would be +50 and -50 basis points for interest rates for the current year (2019: Interest rate +25 and -25 for
basis point). The calculation is based on the Group’s financial instruments held at reporting date. All other
variables are held constant. There is no other direct impact on Group’s equity.

Increase in interest rates Decrease in interest rates
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD KD KD

Profit for the year (106,435) (64,987) 106,435 64,987
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
30.1 Market risk (continued)

c) Price risk

This is a risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate as a result of changes in market prices, whether
these changes are caused by factors specific to individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all
instruments, traded in the market. The Group is exposed to equity price risk with respect to its listed equity
investments which are primarily located in Kuwait, UAE, KSA and Jordan.

Equity investments ate classified either as investments carried at fair value through profit or loss (including trading
securities) or investments at FVOCI securities.

To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio.
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the Group.

The price risk sensitivity is determined at the rate of 10% on the exposute to equity price risks at the reporting
date. If equity prices had been higher by 10%, the effect on the profit for the year and equity for the year ended

31 December would have been as follows, with all other vatriables held constant:

A positive number below indicates an increase in profit/equity, where the equity prices increase by the above-
mentioned percentages.

Other Comprehensive

Profit for the year Income
31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019 2020 2019
KD KD KD KD
Investments at fair value through profit or loss 743,258 1,111,669 - -
Investments at FVOCI - - 689,956 908,167

743,258 1,111,669 689,956 908,167

If there was a negative change in equity prices in accordance with the above-mentioned equity price risk sensitivity
assumptions (10%), there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit and other comprehensive income
for the year, and the balances shown above would be negative.

30.2  Creditrisk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Group’s credit policy and exposure to credit risk is monitored on an
ongoing basis. The Group seeks to avoid undue concentrations of risks with individuals or groups of customers
in specific locations ot business through diversification of its activities.

The Group’s exposute to credit risk is limited to the carrying amounts of financial assets recognised at the
reporting date, as summarized below:
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30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

30.2  Credit risk (continved)

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Bank balances 4,129,799 2,579,516
Short term deposits 6,997,843 5,628,943
Wakala investments - 1,000,000
Accounts receivable and other assets (refer note 16) 4,489,542 4,290,142
Investments at FVTPL 167,285 587,557
Investments at FVOCI 499,025 621,355
16,283,494 14,707,513

Except for the wakala investment referred to in note 13 and accounts receivable and other assets referred to in
note 15, none of the above financial assets are past due or impaired. The Group continuously monitors defaults
of customers and other counterparty, identified either individually or by group, and incorporates this information
into its credit risk controls. Where available at reasonable cost, external credit ratings and/or repotts on customers
and other counterparties are obtained and used. The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy
counterparties. The Group’s management considers that all the above financial assets that are neither past due
nor impaited, review are of good credit quality.

None of the Group's financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit enhancements.

In respect of receivables, the Group is not exposed to any significant credit risk exposure to any single
counterparty. The credit risk for cash and bank balances, short term deposits and amounts due from related parties
is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable financial institutions/entities with high credit
quality. Information on other significant concentrations of credit risk is set out in note 30.3.

30.3 Concentration of financial assets and liabilities
The distribution of financial assets and financial liabilities by geographic region is as follows:

Asia & Europe &
Kuwait Middle East Africa USA Total
KD KD KD KD KD
At 31 December 2020
Cash and bank balances 3,316,579 814,513 2,497 - 4,133,589
Short term deposits 6,997,843 - - - 6,997,843
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss 3,607,799 3,693,093 298,976 - 7,599,868
Accounts receivable and other assets
(note 15) 3,728,055 266,526 470,144 24,817 4,489,542
investments at FVOC! 8,060,013 3,650,045 1,336,421 194,202 13,240,681
25,710,289 8,424,177 2,108,038 219,019 36,461,523
Due to banks 333,516 - - - 333,516
Accounts payable and other liabilities 7,044,568 2,220,117 - 7,510 9,272,195
Borrowings 22,699,375 - - - 22,699,375

30,077,459 2,220,117 - 7,510 32,305,086
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)
30.3  Concentration of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Asia & Europe &
Kuwait Middie East Africa USA Total
KD KD KD KD KD
At 31 December 2019
Cash and bank balances 1,987,563 591,297 1,618 - 2,580,478
Short term deposits 5,628,943 - - - 5,628,943
Wakala investments 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
Investments at fair value through
profit or loss 6,875,479 4,072,482 756,284 - 11,704,245
Accounts receivable and other assets
(note 15) 3,283,798 531,573 459,946 14,825 4,290,142
Investments at FVOCI 10,085,778 3,664,833 2,184,687 232,770 16,168,068
28,861,561 8,860,185 3,402,535 247 595 41,371,876
Due to banks 408,598 - - - 408,598
Accounts payable and other liabilities 6,072,566 2,084,230 - 764 8,157,560
Borrowings 27,352,021 - _ _ 27,352,021
33,833,185 2,084,230 - 764 35,918,179

30.4  Liquidity risk

Liquidity tisk is the risk that the Group will be unable to meet its liabilities when they fall due. To limit this risk,
management has arranged diversified funding sources, manages assets with liquidity in mind, and monitors

liquidity on a daily basis.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s assets and liabilities. Except for investments
carried at fair value through profit or loss and fair value through other comprehensive income investments, the
maturities of assets and liabilities have been determined on the basis of the temaining petiod from the reporting

date to the contractual maturity date.

The maturity profile for investments carried at fair value through profit or loss, fair value through other
comprehensive income and investment properties is determined based on management’s estimate of liquidation

of those investments.

Maturity profile of assets and liabilities are as follows:

1 year Over 1 year Total
KD KD KD

At 31 December 2020
ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 4,133,589 - 4,133,589
Short term deposits 6,997,843 - 6,997,843
Investment at fair value through profit or loss 7,599,868 - 7,599,868
Accounts receivable and other assets 4,489,542 - 4,489,542
Inventories 589,801 - 589,801
Investments at FVOCI 1,030,900 12,209,781 13,240,681
Investment in associates - 52,118,051 52,118,051
investment properties 1,769,253 11,286,830 13,056,083
Property and equipment - 1,677,607 1,677,607
Right of use of assets - 1,257,317 1,257,317
Goodwill and other intangible assets - 2,029,278 2,029,278

26,610,796 80,578,864 107,189,660
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

30 Risk management objectives and policies (continued)

30.4  Liquidity risk (continued)

1 year Over 1 year Total
KD KD KD
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other liabilities 8,151,448 1,120,747 9,272,195
Due to banks 333,516 - 333,516
Borrowings 2,500,000 20,199,375 22,699,375
Provision for end of service indemnity - 1,269,027 1,269,027
10,984,964 22,589,149 33,574,113
At 31 December 2019
ASSETS
Cash and bank balances 2,580,478 - 2,580,478
Short term deposits 5,628,943 - 5,628,943
Wakala investments 1,000,000 - 1,000,000
Investment at fair value through profit or loss 11,704,245 - 11,704,245
Accounts receivable and other assets 4,445 898 - 4,445 898
Inventories 527,240 - 527,240
Investments at FVOCI 1,731,635 14,436,433 16,168,068
Investment in associates - 46,722,338 46,722,338
Investment properties 2,564,930 11,330,280 13,895,210
Property and equipment - 1,960,898 1,960,898
Right of use of assets - 1,432,738 1,432,738
Goodwill and other intangible assets - 2,164,019 2,164,019
30,183,369 78,046,706 108,230,075
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other liabilities 6,890,337 1,267,223 8,157,560
Due to banks 408,598 - 408,598
Borrowings 5,362,146 21,989,875 27,352,021
Provision for end of service indemnity - 1,058,101 1,058,101
12,661,081 24,315,199 36,976,280
The contractual maturity of financial liabilities based on undiscounted cash flows is as follows:
Upto1 1-3 3-12 1-5
month Months months years Total
31 December 2020 KD KD KD KD KD
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities - - 6,479,121 1,120,747 7,599,868
Borrowings and due to banks 146 522,156 3,066,801 21,532,188 25,121,291
146 522,156 9,545,922 22,652,935 32,721,159
31 December 2019
Financial liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities - - 6,890,337 1,267,223 8,157,560
Borrowings and due to banks 408,598 471,724 6,122,425 24 634,569 31,637,316
408,598 471,724 13,012,762 25,901,792 39,794,876
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31 Capital risk management
The Group’s capital risk management objectives are to ensure that the Group maintains a strong credit rating and
healthy ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes in economic conditions
and risk characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the number of dividends paid to shareholders, buy back shares, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debt. See note 22.

The Parent Company is required to maintain a minimum share capital of KID15 million as it is registered as an
investment company regulated by the Central Bank of Kuwait.

The capital structure of the Group consists of the following:

31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Borrowings (refer note 21) 22,699,375 27,352,021
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (refer note 12) (9,541,926) (6,544,833)
Net debt 13,157,449 20,807,188
Total equity 73,615,547 71,253,795
Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total equity as follows:
31 Dec. 31 Dec.
2020 2019
KD KD
Net debt 13,157,449 20,807,188
Total equity 73,615,547 71,253,795
Net debt to total equity ratio 18% 29%

32 Fiduciary assets

The Group manages mutual funds and portfolios on behalf of its Ultimate Parent Company, other related parties
and outsiders, and maintains securities in fiduciary accounts which are not reflected in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position. Assets under management at 31 December 2020 amounted to KID25,301,493
(2019: KID26,986,404) of which assets managed on behalf of its Ultimate Parent Company and other related
parties amounted to KID19,415,735 (2019: KD19,681,561).

33 Contingent liabilities and capital commitments

Contingent liabilities

On 1 December 2011, the Parent Company’s Jordanian subsidiary, N oot Jordanian Kuwaiti Financial Investment
Company Limited (“the Seller”) disposed of its entire equity interest in one of its Jordanian subsidiaries (Noor
Jordan Kuwait Transport Company JSCC) to nine individual buyers (“the Buyers”). Subsequent to the transfer
of shares and control to the Buyers, they have filed a case against the seller claiming mistepresentation in valuing
subsidiary assets at JD4,500,000 (KD1,924,718). The subsidiary’s management and legal advisor believe that the
favourable decision of the court is probable; hence, no provision for any effects that may result has been made
in the consolidated financial statements.
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33 Contingent liabilities and capital commitments (continued)

Capital commitments
At the reporting date the Group had commitments of KD Nil towards purchase of investments and development
of investment properties (2019: KID1,038,605) and guarantees amounting to KID3,786,114 (2019: KDD1,169,544).

34 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities can be classified as follows:

Borrowings Borrowings
Due after due within one Total
one year year
KD KD KD

1 January 2020 21,989,875 5,362,146 27,352,021
Cash flows:
- Repayment (1,790,500) (2,862,146) (4,652,646)
31 December 2020 20,199,375 2,500,000 22,699,375
1 January 2019 38,249,950 10,859,127 49,109,077
Cash flows:
- Repayment (1,110,000) (8,926,981) (10,036,981)
Non-cash
- In kind settlement (3,000,000) - (3,000,000)
- Reclassification (5,200,000) 5,200,000 -
- Disposal of subsidiary (6,950,075) (1,770,000) (8,720,075)
31 December 2019 21,989,875 5,362,146 27,352,021

35 Effect of COVID 19

The outbreak of Coronavirus (“COVID19”) pandemic and related global responses have caused material
disruptions to businesses around the world, leading to an economic slowdown. Governments worldwide imposed
travel bans and strict quarantine measures in order to slow the spread of Covid-19. Business are dealing with lost
revenue and disrupted supply chains. While the country has started to ease the lockdown, the relaxation has been
gradual. Global and local equity markets have experienced significant volatility and weakness. While governments
and central banks have reacted with various financial packages and reliefs designed to stabilise economic
conditions, the duration and extent of the impact of the COVID19 outbreak remains unclear at this time.

Further, during the year, the Group received an aggregate amount of KD 167,031 as Covid-19 support towards
staff expenses from the Government of Kuwait.

Management has updated its assumptions with respect to judgements and estimates on various account balances
which may be potentially impacted due to continued uncertainties in the volatile economic environment in which
the Group conducts its operations. The reported amounts best represent management's assessment based on
observable information. Markets, however, remain volatile and asset cartying values remain sensitive to market
fluctuations.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

35 Effect of COVID 19 (continued)

Management is aware that a continued and persistent disruption could negatively impact the financial position,
performance and cash flows of the Group in the future. Management continues to closely monitor the market
trends, its supply-chain, industry reports and cash flows to minimise any negative impact on the Group.

36 Merger with a subsidiary

The Boatd of Directors of the Parent Company in the meeting held on 18 November 2019 approved, in principle,
to offer one of its subsidiaries, Noor Telecommunication Holding Company - KSCC (merged entity), to metge
by way of amalgamation with the Parent Company (merging entity), as stipulated in the CMA regulations bylaw
Chapter 9 (Acquisition and Merger) of law No.7.

Further, the Board of Directors in the meeting held on 9 December 2020, approved to submit the revised
documents including advisors reports to the regulatory authorities in order to obtain the related approvals.
Further, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company approved the swap ratio and revised capital structure.
The Parent Company received approval of the Capital Market Authority for the merger on 31 December 2020.
In ordet to continue the merger process, the Board of Directors of the Parent Company recommended during
the month of December 2020 to reduce share capital of the Parent Company by KID1,333,549 through
cancellation of 13,335,499 treasury shares and to issue 13,335,499 new shares at Fills 100 per share to the non-
controlling interest holders of the merged entity on completion of the merger subject to regulatory and
shareholders approvals.

As a result of the proposed merger and subject to the other apptovals of regulatory authorities and the
shareholders of both the merging entities, the shareholders of the merged entity are expected to receive shares of
the Parent Company.

37 Comparative amounts

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the presentation in the current year. Such
reclassification does not affect previously reported net assets, net equity, net results for the year or net increase in
cash and cash equivalents.



